
Health and Wellbeing Board
Agenda

BRISTOL CCG

Date:      Wednesday, 17 July 2019
Time:      2.30 pm
Venue:   The Writing Room - City Hall, College Green, 
Bristol, BS1 5TR

Distribution:
Members: Alison Bolam, Helen Holland, Asher Craig, Gray, Julia Ross, Justine Rawlings, Elaine Flint, 
Keith Sinclair, Morgan Daly, Jacqui Jensen, Robert Woolley, Andrea Young, Eva Dietrich, Julia Clarke 
and Terry Dafter

Copies to: Nancy Rollason (Service Manager Legal), Sarah Sharland (Legal Officer), Sally Hogg and 
Oliver Harrison (Democratic Services Officer)

Issued by: Oliver Harrison, Democratic Services
City Hall College Green Bristol BS1 5TR
Tel: 0117 35 26162
E-mail: democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk
Date: Tuesday, 9 July 2019

Public Document Pack

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


Health and Wellbeing Board – Agenda

Agenda
1. Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information 2.30
Please note: if the alarm sounds during the meeting, everyone should please exit 
the building via the way they came in, via the main entrance lobby area, and then 
the front ramp.  Please then assemble on the paved area between the side 
entrance of the cathedral and the roundabout at the Deanery Road end of the 
building.

If the front entrance cannot be used, alternative exits are available via staircases 
2 and 3 to the left and right of the Council Chamber.  These exit to the rear of the 
building.  The lifts are not to be used.  Then please make your way to the 
assembly point at the front of the building.  Please do not return to the building 
until instructed to do so by the fire warden(s).

2. Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 2.35

3. Declarations of Interest 2.40
To note any declarations of interest from the Councillors.  They are asked to 
indicate the relevant agenda item, the nature of the interest and in particular 
whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Any declarations of interest made at the meeting which is not on the register of 
interests should be notified to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion.

4. Public Forum 2.45
Up to 10 minutes is allowed for this item

Any member of the public or Councillor may participate in Public Forum.  The 
detailed arrangements for so doing are set out in the Public Information Sheet at 
the back of this agenda.  Public Forum items should be emailed to 
democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk and please note that the following deadlines 
will apply in relation to this meeting:-

Questions - Written questions must be received 3 clear working days prior to the 
meeting.  For this meeting, this means that your question(s) must be received in 
this office at the latest by 5 pm on 11 July 2019

Petitions and Statements - Petitions and statements must be received on the 
working day prior to the meeting.  For this meeting this means that your 

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


Health and Wellbeing Board – Agenda

submission must be received in this office at the latest by 12.00 noon on Tuesday 
16 July 2019 

5. Minutes of Previous Meeting 2.55
To agree the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct record. (Pages 5 - 11)

6. Approval of SEND Strategy 3.00
For decision and strategic oversight (Pages 12 - 53)

7. Board Oversight Update 3.20
Board oversight: (Verbal update as agreed at last meeting) Clarity of role and 
purpose of the board strategic leadership for Health and Wellbeing Board – 
decision, oversight, statutory duties.

[Alison Bolam / Helen Holland]

8. Health and Wellbeing Board Plan on a Page 3.30
For decision: Approval of the HWBB Plan on a Page

[Christina Gray]

(Pages 54 - 59)

9. Thrive Bristol 3.50
For strategic oversight: Thrive Bristol

[Leonie Roberts / Victoria Bleazard]

(Pages 60 - 63)

10. One City Plan Update 4.05
Strategic leadership: (Verbal update) HWB contribution to the One City Plan
• City Gathering
• Many Neighbourhoods; One City

[Alison Bolam / Sally Hogg]

11. Joint Working Update 4.15



Health and Wellbeing Board – Agenda

Strategic leadership: (Verbal update) Joint working across the region:  
• BNSSG Joint Health and Wellbeing Board Workshop
• SW Health & Wellbeing Board Network Annual Conference, including the 
Wigan Deal
• SW Health & Wellbeing Board Conference feedback

[Helen Holland / Asher Craig]

12. Statutory Duties 4.30
Statutory duty (Verbal Update)
• Feedback from Healthier Together Programme Board

[Helen Holland]

13. Forward Plan 4.40
[Christina Gray]



Bristol City Council
Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board

27 March 2019 at 2.30 pm

Board Members Present: Mayor Marvin Rees, Dr A Bolam, Helen Holland, Asher Craig, Gray, 
Justine Rawlings, Elaine Flint, Keith Sinclair, Daly, Dr J Jensen, Robert Woolley, E Dietrich and Julia Clarke

Officers in Attendance:-

1. Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information

Mayor Rees took the Chair and welcomed all those present and led introductions.

2. Apologies for Absence and Substitutions

Apologies received from Julia Ross and Terry Dafter
Matthew Bazeley substitutes for Andrea Young

3. Declarations of Interest

None

4. Proposed Amendments to HWB Membership

Cllr Holland thanked members for the opportunity to co-Chair the Health and Well Being Board and 
stressed the importance of collaborative working as the public do not see a separation between health 
providers. HH looks forward to working with members to progress this work. 

The Mayor welcomed new members and spoke about the ability of the HWB to provide meaningful and 
proactive leadership rather than reacting to health consequences.

Vicki Morris of HealthWatch was given a vote of thanks for her contributions to the Health and Well Being 
Board during her tenure. She is replaced by Morgan Daly.

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

5. Public Forum

The following items of Public Forum were received:

Agenda Item 4: Proposed Amendments to HWB Membership
PS4.1 – Adult Social Care and procurement issues - Mike Campbell

Agenda Item 7: One City Plan and discussion of future HWB Strategy
PS7.1 Health and Wellbeing of Blind and Partially-Sighted People in Bristol - Alun Davies
PS7.2 Adult Social Care Tendering – Andy Burkitt
PS7.3 Knife Crime and Street Violence – Andy Burkitt

Board welcomed Alun Davies statement and the proposal for greater engagement with Blind and Partially 
Sighted People.

JJ proposed that items relating to health services including procurement and tendering, would best be 
received within a Bristol Health Scrutiny forum.   Members agreed that the option of a Bristol Health 
Scrutiny Forum should be established.   The role of the HWB should be about system transformation and 
leadership.  

Members agreed that serious street violence was a public health priority and confirmed it is included in 
the One City Plan. Level of violence in Bristol is not comparable to some other cities at the moment but it 
is important to prevent it from escalating.   

6. Minutes of Previous Meeting

The Minutes of the meeting held on the 24th October 2018 were confirmed as a correct record.

7. One City Plan Update and discussion of future HWB Strategy

This item was led by Christina Gray, the new BCC Director of Public Health, who was formally welcomed 
by members. 

The current HWB Strategy documentation is reaching its end date.  The purpose of the Board and the 
Strategy is to address significant health challenges facing this board.  Bristol has entrenched health 
inequality. The 10 year health gap identified in 1996 remains, even with overall life expectancy increasing. 
Healthy life expectancy has decreased. People living in deprived wards can expect 30 years of ill health. 
The Health and Wellbeing Strategy should be the means to deliver on health inequality.  CG drew 
attention to two existing plans – the One City Plan and Healthier Together both of which provide 
opportunities to address Health and Wellbeing 

Page 6



democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

CG introduced a draft plan on a page as a framework which captures the Boards Statutory Duties and the 
opportunities within the two local plans.   The grey boxes are the HWB statutory responsibilities. There 
are six strategic pillars. The first pair is around achieving One City Plan objectives. The second pair is about 
better together: improving outcomes and integrated systems. The last pair is about oversight. A 
performance  dashboard would be  developed to measure progress against the plan. 

 Members welcomed the clarity and focus that the plan on a page brings to HWB. The One City 
Plan has set health targets for each year which also helps. These targets can flex based on ongoing 
developments. 

 The voluntary sector can contribute to these headlines, but will need clarity about what they can 
do, be realistic about scale and is keen to co-design to add value. The plan has clear ‘to dos’ which 
will facilitate discussions with stakeholders.

 There is a lot of existing work on integrated care system, including social prescribing and locality 
networks, which should be active from July. 

 Population health management is critical to these objectives to identify needs within a locality and 
to deliver in integrated way. Remember that there are other health stakeholders not on the HWB, 
e.g. NHS England, so think about what they deliver. 

 Shortcomings of the HWB previously include partners reporting business as usual to each other 
rather than adding value. The plan provides specifics, which is important to attract interest and 
funding. 

 The dashboard would be critical to monitoring progress and identifying issues

Members agreed the general approach of the plan as a way forward. Members also agreed to have 
development sessions running alongside HWB meetings. There was acknowledgement that not all 
members may be able to attend these development meetings, but would send suitable substitutes. 

ACTION OH schedule development meetings, running on alternate months to the HWB

8. This Girl Can Move

Sally Hogg led a presentation of the ‘This Girl Can Move’ campaign, showing pregnant women and young 
mothers exercising. These photos are currently on exhibition at Southmead and St Michael hospitals. 
They will be displayed at GP surgeries soon. About 1.3m women in UK are not meeting their physical 
exercise goals compared to men. Some communities, e.g. Somali women, find it hard to access exercise / 
sport groups. This campaign comes from Sport England. It is an unexpected resource that produces good 
health outcomes. Chronic pain is frequently linked to lack of exercise. 

Members discussed how the HWB could increase the impact of this campaign, including distributing 
through workforces, improving mental health with exercise, promoting via schools and governors, and via 
midwives and health visitors. 

ACTION OH to circulate link to video to HWB

Page 7



democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

9. Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)

Jacqui Jensen led a presentation and discussion on Adverse Childhood Experiences.   The intention is to 
have an ACE aware city, one that is conscious about the trauma early adverse experiences can cause 
across a lifetime. All ACEs are worse in the south of the city. There are strong links between ACE and 
indicators of development. 47% of people have one ACE, 9% have 4 or more. Rate of diagnosis of long 
term disease is more prevalent in adults who have experienced a high number of ACEs. There is currently 
a lack of support for adults who are not parents, homeless and those supported by commissioned 
services. There are around 50 services represented in task and finish groups working on ACEs. There is 
lots of interest and practice out there that we can build on. The One City Plan has a health thread through 
it to prevent ACEs. It is important to establish resilient communities that can break the pathology of ACE 
so it is not an intergenerational issue. We are working closely with partners in Wales who have put 
considerable resources into this. We need to establish the case for change, the resources we can save if 
we prevent these crises happening in the first place. We are working on bid for health integration via big 
lottery to get a health economist that can do this. There are formulas on parenting programmes that can 
be drawn on but we need people better knowledge to deliver.

The following points were made in discussion:
 Resources are tied up in crisis management, it is an enormous cost that needs pushing back. There 

is a lot on physical health in the ACE presentation, but mental health has a big impact. The actions 
required would be very similar though. Particular attention should be given to parenting while 
having mental health issues

 Almost all social work cases have domestic abuse in them. This affects emotional and mental 
health.

 Young carers should be considered in this as they are under high stress
 Asylum seeker / refugee families also have high needs
 ACE can have many sub-categories, but strategy should be sticking to basics that can be widely 

applied to maximise impact
 Awareness of ACE is in the One City Plan but can be brought forward. For example, people 

understand that DV is bad, but not that it could increase your risk of diabetes. 
 Serious violence in young people due to a lack of service provision. Desperate youths who think 

they don’t have a future and rely on gangs for meaning. Not providing services now means greater 
cost in future. We want to be preventative. We do not want to end up like London, Glasgow or 
Rochdale. We are learning from them. For example, the creation of a serious violence exec group 
or health providers making interventions when a young person is seriously injured to bring them 
out of gangs. We are constantly fighting against mobile technology being used by gangs.

 Information sharing will be vital to tackling ACE. This is not just from providers, most intelligence 
comes from the local community level. Important that community can trust us to act. 

 There are some amnesty systems for young offenders, e.g. take assistance or go through the 
criminal justice system. Lack of work means campaigns like ‘ban the box’ are very important.

ACTION OH distribute slides / videos

Page 8



democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

10.Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) Update

Robert Wooley gave a verbal update on the STP, including some recent achievements. 
 Primary care networks are being developed within localities. 
 The Long Term Plan requires a focus on prevention. 
 A citizen panel is being developed with 700 individuals so far and with a target of 1000. It is 

important that these panels are representative of the population. Eurocities have just reported on 
20 citizen panels. 

 There is a formal public consultation about services in Weston Super Mare.  
 The NHS long term plan requires a move towards ICS (Integrated Care Systems). Bristol North 

Somerset South Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (BNSSG CCG) is working with 
national team to get early involvement and have formally applied to be an ICS. The benefit is 
access to transformation funding. A big issue is how we get funds to pump prime services and 
switch service models. We have to produce 5 year plan by this summer, which needs to get solid 
alignment with the One City Plan. 

11.Forward Plan

The Forward Plan was briefly discussed, but will be revisited soon in light of the new strategy and plan on 
a page. 

Summary of Actions
CG establish a Bristol Health Scrutiny Forum
OH schedule development meetings, running on alternate months to HWB
OH to circulate ‘This Girl Can’ video
OH to circulate Adverse Childhood Experiences slides / videos

Meeting ended at 4.30 pm

CHAIR  __________________

Page 9



Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board – Development Session

22 May 2019 at 2:30pm

Chairs: Cllr Helen Holland, Dr Alison Bolam

Facilitators: Christina Gray, Sally Hogg

Other Board members present: Justine Rawlings, Elaine Flint, Keith Sinclair, Morgan Daly, Jacqui 
Jensen, Julia Clark, Terry Dafter, Tony Page, Matthew Blazeley

Aims of the development session

To refine and agree our Plan on a Page; to ensure that our ambitions are evidence-based, 
challenging and deliverable, linking clearly to the One City Plan and the wider health and care 
integration agenda.

Introduction – Christina Gray

Christina gave a presentation which included:

 The role of the Health and Wellbeing Board – to address inequalities, focusing on wider 
determinants, prevention and early identification

 Statutory duties – oversight of health and care integration, Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment, Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment, Annual 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities report to Board

 Developing a strategic approach – One City Plan and Healthier Together as frameworks

 Plan on a Page – summary of work-streams

 One City Thematic Boards and approach – Health and Wellbeing Board is one of them, but 
can also influence other boards

City Governance for Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) – Dr Jacqui Jensen

The Health and Wellbeing Board has a statutory duty to provide oversight for SEND; Jacqui outlined 
the governance arrangements. Two Board Champions were identified: Julia Clark and Justine 
Rawlings.

One City Plan – Health in wider determinants – Sally Hogg

This is one of the pillars of the Board’s plan on a page. Attendees discussed seven outcomes from 
the One City Plan that relate to wider determinants of health before voting to decide three priorities 
for the coming year. The results were:

 Implement ‘Housing First’ for people with mental health and complex needs (Housing and 
Communities Board) – 14%

 Public sector organisations to have 30% of fleet non-fossil fuel (Environment Board) – 43%

 Bristol is a ‘Reading City’ (Learning and Skills Board: aspiration 2020) – 10%

 Board to support City Wide ‘Works Programme’ connecting employers with schools 
(Learning and Skills Board) – 10%

Page 10



 Support older people into work, social action and volunteering (Economy Board) – 5%

 Ensure Bristol is awarded a gold standard in the Sustainable Food City awards, with over 50% 
food produced within the city region distributed locally (Environment Board: aspiration 
2021) – 10%

 Mental health and employment – 10%

There were further discussions about combining or broadening some of the outcomes. The Board 
would like to have a session on housing.

Areas for integration and integrated working – Justine Rawlings and Terry Dafter

It was noted that the Better Care Fund should be reported at the HWBB.

Discussions about aligning what we are doing together including population health, asset based 
social care and community resource.

Link to the NHS Long Term Plan in a Place Holder capacity.

Consideration should be given to a themed discussion (timing with the new Community Provider).

Questions regarding how the HWBB fits into the governance of Healthier Together, and being more 
public facing.

HWBB needs to be able to understand the population and would welcome a session on all aspects of 
data and intelligence.

Page 11



Bristol Health & Wellbeing Board 

Bristol Strategy for Children and Young People (0-25) 
with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 

2019-2021
Author, including 
organisation

Local Area SEND Strategic Partnership Group

Date of meeting 17th July 2019
Report for Decision 

1. Purpose of this Paper
This paper outlines the process of development and intended function of the 
new local area Strategy for Children and Young People (0-25) with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (Appendix 1) and the local area Self- 
evaluation (Appendix 2). This paper seeks HWB approval of the content and 
publication of these documents.

2. Executive Summary 

The local area has undertaken a process of self-evaluation which has resulted 
in the Bristol Local Area SEND Self-Evaluation (“SEF”). The SEF describes 
how effectively the local area identifies, assesses and meets the needs, and 
improves the outcomes of the different groups of children and young people 
with SEND.

The strategy has been developed through the Local Area Strategic SEND 
Partnership (“LASPAG”), using insight from the area’s self assessment 
(“SEF”), ongoing JSNA SEND Spotlight Report and consultation with 
stakeholders. It describes the area’s vision, values and themes for 
development.

The SEND Strategy and SEF will be touchstones in the development and 
implementation of SEND Action Plan and support HWB and stakeholders to 
hold LASPAG to account.in accordance with the governance set out in the 
strategy document.

3. Recommendations for the HWB to Agree:

i. The Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to note the contents of the 
Bristol Local Area SEND Self-Evaluation.and endorse its publication.

ii. The Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to adopt the Bristol 
Strategy for Children and Young People (0-25) with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities 2019-2021, and endorse and 
promote its publication.

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



iii. The Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to agree the governance 
arrangements for the oversight of outcomes for special educational 
needs and disabilities, as outlined in the SEND Strategy.

4. Main body of the Report

Bristol Local Area SEND Self-Evaluation 
The Bristol Local Area SEND Self-Evaluation (“SEF”) is aligned to the 
Ofsted/CQC framework for local area SEND inspections; it sets out how the 
local area identifies, assesses and meets the needs, and improves the 
outcomes of the different groups of children and young people with SEND.

The document has been written collaboratively by the services delivering the 
area’s SEND function and  sets out what the area does, how effective it is, 
and, good practice and developments needed in respect of the three core 
areas for local area assessment.

The SEF is a reference document which is intended primarily for professional 
use. It serves two key purposes: demonstrating that area has a clear 
understanding of the quality and development of its SEND function, and 
providing the foundation for action planning. The SEF is a key document 
during a local area inspection, 

LASPAG is responsible for the development and review of the SEF

Bristol Strategy for Children and Young People (0-25) with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities 2019-2021
The Bristol Strategy for Children and Young People with Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities sets out our vision and values for children and young 
people with SEND and includes seven strategic themes. These themes 
express our key areas of work.

The strategy is intentionally high level and and does not give detail about the 
specifics of SEND improvement work in the area. The purpose of the strategy 
is to provide an overarching framework for a varied and variable package of 
improvement work which must respond to changing service demands, and the 
outcome of a local area SEND inspection which is anticipated to take place 
soon.

The Local Area Strategic SEND Partnership Group
LASPAG is responsible for the development of the SEND Action Plan which 
outlines the area’s SEND improvement work and sets out the steps which will 
be taken in order to deliver the themes set out in the strategy, and identify 
outcomes against which progress will be measured. 

LASPAG will have reference to the JSNA SEND Chapter, Self Assessment 
and SEND Strategy, and work with children and young people and their 
parents and carers in developing the SEND Action Plan. The Local Area 
Strategic SEND Partnership Group will report to the HWB on progress against 
this plan and benefit from HWB’s challenge and oversight.

The local area’s SEND function is currently under considerable pressure from 
a failure to keep pace with a changing demographic of children and young 
people with SEND for whom the area is responsible. This has resulted in 
significant underperformance in respect of a number of key statutory duties, 
most notably around assessment and review. Action planning is underway Page 13



and recommendations have been prepared for Cabinet to begin to ameliorate 
these issues.

The development of what is now the SEND Strategy began with a  draft vison 
and a set of priorities developed with stakeholder input, in early 2018. This 
was consulted on from March 2018 through to May 2018. 86% of online 
survey respondents either ‘Agreed’ (26%) or ‘Strongly Agreed’ (62%) with the 
vision (158 people). The vision statement of the SEND Strategy is based upon 
this work, and suggested amendments. 

Young people with SEND have engaged with strategic planning processes in 
a number of ways. This includes an event that brought the school councils in 
Special Schools together to discuss priorities; a Youth Voice conference 
where disabled children and young people and those with SEN introduced 
their priorities; and representation by theListening Partnership for children and 
young people with SEND on the Bristol City Youth Council. 

The views and priorities of children and young people with SEND are 
addressed either through the SEND Action Plan (e.g. Independent living, 
preparing for adulthood) or other relevant work overseen through the Keeping 
Bristol Safe Partnership (in relation to mental health and bullying for example), 
or Learning City (training as a route to employment). 

As set out above, the SEF and SEND Strategy are intended to be read as part 
of a set of key documents which describe the area’s children and young 
people with SEND (JSNA SEND Spotlight Report); the area’s services for 
children and young people with SEND (SEF); and the area’s approach to 
improving those services (SEND Action Plan).

Page 14



Bristol Strategy for Children and 
Young People (0–25) with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities
2019–2022
Version 21/06 – DRAFTDRAFT

DRAFT

Page 15



Bristol Strategy for Children and Young People (0–25) with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 2019 – 2022

2

Introduction
In Bristol, we are ambitious for all children 
and young people to have the best possible 
education and every opportunity to achieve 
well. This applies equally to our children and 
young people aged 0-25 who have special 
education needs and or disabilities (SEND).

In 2018 we completed a review of our progress in 
delivering the SEND provision, and this document 
is our refreshed plan, setting out the next steps 
to improving the future of every Bristol child and 
young person with SEND.

Services regularly engage with the Listening 
Partnership to gather views about how needs 
are being met and views on provision in Bristol. 
The Listening Partnership, commissioned by the 
council, is a regular forum group for young disabled 
people in Bristol aged 13-19 years old, or with 
learning difficulties up to age 25. Young people are 
encouraged to have their say and learn about their 
rights, with guest speakers and workshops across a 
range of topics.

While Bristol has many reasons to be proud of its 
existing services and quality of provision, especially 
in our Early Years settings, there is more we need to 
do to improve the outcomes for all our children and 
young people.

The Bristol Strategy for Children and Young 
People (0–25) with Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities (2019 – 2022) clearly sets out our 
approach to providing the support children and 
young people with SEND and their families need 
and deserve. We are committed to doing all we can 
to ensure that our most vulnerable children and 
young people get the best opportunities at the 
earliest stage. 

The Children and Families Act 2014 introduced the 
biggest changes to SEN in a generation. It included 
a new statutory duty on the local authority to 
ensure that the views, wishes and feelings of 

parents are given importance and the right support 
and information is in place to ensure they are able 
to participate in decisions which help to achieve 
good outcomes for their children.

Aligned with this, our strategy has been co-
produced with the Bristol Parent Carer Forum, 
and we have also incorporated the views and 
experiences of service providers, schools, colleges 
and other stakeholders. Our strategy and vision 
for SEND also aligns with the Bristol’s Strategy for 
Children, Young People and Families 2016-20, as 
well as the aspirational ‘One City Plan’.

We are committed to working in this way - building 
strong partnerships - and we have made good 
progress, but we also recognise that more time and 
attention is needed for direct engagement with 
children with SEND and their families, in all aspects 
of our work.

We have substantially improved governance 
and leadership within the SEND Partnership 
Organisations, with senior leaders taking key roles 
in further developing our partnership working.

The investment in SEND in Bristol is significant, 
and higher than in many similar local authority 
areas - the challenge is to achieve better outcomes 
for this investment.

Going forward we recognise that there is still much 
we need to do to keep pace with increasing demand, 
to improving the quality of provision at the earliest 
opportunity, and to ensure that more children and 
young people can have the specialist support they 
need in local schools and early years settings.

Our new Strategy clearly sets out our priorities for 
the future, and its success will be dependent on 
effective joint working with our partners, listening to 
and learning from children and young people with 
SEND and their parents and carers, and by investing 
in and developing our services for the long-term.

Jacqui Jensen
Executive Director 
Adults, Children,  
Education and Public Health, 
Bristol City Council    

Andy Marsh
Chief Constable

Avon and Somerset Police   

Julia Ross
Chief Executive Officer
Bristol, North Somerset and 
South Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group

DRAFT DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

Page 16



Bristol Strategy for Children and Young People (0–25) with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 2019 – 2022

3

Our Vision and Values
Our Vision:

We will support and empower disabled children and young people and 
those with special educational needs to reach their full potential and have 
healthy, independent and fulfilling lives.

Values:

1.  Inclusion & Independence 
– belonging and involvement

All children, including those with SEND, have the 
right to influence the decisions that contribute to 
creating a city they want to live, study and play in. 
Children and young people will have opportunities 
to make decisions that benefit their health and 
happiness, and, be supported to live and work 
independently.

2.  Respect  
– value, regard and reliability.

We believe in treating children and young people 
and their parents and carers, with value and respect. 
We will ensure children and young people with 
SEND are provided with services that have regard for 
their views and wishes. Furthermore we will work 
to ensure services are reliable in their delivery of 
provision and support.

3.  Care  
– protection, safeguarding and support.

All children and young people are entitled to feel 
safe, protected and supported. We will work together 
to ensure safeguarding is robust and that  children 
and young people with SEND are safe from fear of 
harm or the threat of harm. 

4.  Equality  
– fairness, accessibility and opportunity.

Children and young people with SEND have the 
right to access opportunities without discrimination 
or prejudice. We believe in the rights afforded to 
children and young people with SEND through the 
Equality Act 2010 and the UN Convention on the 
Rights of the Child.

Our vision and values have been developed through engagement work we have undertaken with families 
and practitioners. These values underpin the work we do across the local area. DRAFT DRAFT

DRAFT

Page 17



Bristol Strategy for Children and Young People (0–25) with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 2019 – 2022

4

Developing Our Strategy
The document sets out our strategy for 
developing our services and meeting the needs 
of children and young people with SEND. 
The SEND Strategy has been produced alongside 
local area self-assessment and the Joint Strategic 
needs Assessment (JSNA) SEND spotlight report 
in collaboration with children and young people 
with SEND and their parents and carers. The 
strategy guides the development and delivery of 
the SEND action plan which gives detail about the 
improvements which are being made across the area.

We have developed this strategy for disabled children 

and those with SEN, defined as follows: 

Special Educational Needs

A child or young person has special educational 
needs (SEN) if he or she has a learning difficulty or 
disability which calls for special education provision 
to be made for him or her.

A child or young person is considered to have a 
learning difficulty if he or she has a significantly 
greater difficulty in learning than the majority of 
others of the same age; 

A child or young person has a learning disability 
if they have a disability which prevents or hinders 
them from making use of facilities of a kind generally 
provided for others of the same age in mainstream 
schools or mainstream post 16 institutions.  

Disability

A person has a disability if he or she has a physical 
or mental impairment that has a substantial, long-
term adverse effect on his or her ability to carry out 
normal day-to-day activities. 

Statutory guidance and the SEND Code of Practice 
provide additional information to help with the 
interpretation and application of these definitions. 
The statutory definitions of special educational 
needs (SEN), and disability which are described above 
are found at section 20 of the Children and Families 
Act 2014 and section 6 of the Equality Act 2010.

Local approach and related strategies

This strategy should not be considered in 
isolation but alongside other key documents. 
These strategies are intended to support each 
other to maximise their impact. Other relevant 
local strategies include: 
●● Health and Wellbeing Board Strategic Plan
●● Bristol Early Help Strategy
●● Bristol Carers Strategy
●● Apprenticeship Strategy 
●● Adult Learning Plan 
●● Post 16 Strategy (In development)
●● BNSSG Mental Health Strategy (in development)
●● Bristol Corporate Parenting Strategy
●● Youth Offending Team Strategic Plan
●● Accessibility Strategy
●● Autism Strategy
●● Equalities Charter
●● Children’s Charter

Our local Working Together procedures for 
safeguarding also apply throughout our work. 
We are committed to keeping children and young 
people with SEND safe in all aspects of their lives.

JSNA and SEND 
Spotlight Report

Local Area 
Self Evaluation

Our Strategy

The SEND 
Action Plan

DRAFT DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

Page 18



Bristol Strategy for Children and Young People (0–25) with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 2019 – 2022

5

Local Context

Early Years
12,250 children funded 
through early education 

provision

613 children with SEN

52 children with an EHCP

34% of children with EHCPs 

are persistently absent 

(missing 10% or more of their 

possible sessions), well above 

comparators and the England 

average of 25%.)

In 2017 there were 

very low numbers of 

permanent exclusions for 

children with SEN support 

and no permanent 

exclusions for children 

with EHCPs.

33% of children and 

young people with EHCPs  

had a fixed term exclusion 

in 2017 (England average 

was 16%), and 26% for 

children and young people 

with SEN Support (England 

average was 15%). 

32% of children 

receiving SEN 

support achieving 

Attainment 8, in line 

with the England 

average (32%).2,875 0-25 year olds 

with an EHCP (558 of 

which are currently 

being finalised)

14.87% (62 out of 

417) of current care 

leavers have an EHCP 

91% of Key Stage 

4 pupils with an 

EHCP remained in 

education

15%  of 19 year olds 

with an EHCP qualified 

to Level 2, including 

English & Maths

25.59% (141 out 

of 551) of children in 

care have an EHCP

30% of children receiving SEN 

support achieve a good level of 

development, compared to the 

England average of 28%

61,667 School Age Population (5-19) 

7,325 school age children (5-19) receive SEN support

1,526 school age children (5-19) with EHCPs

23% of pupils 

receiving SEN support 

achieved the expected 

standard in Reading 

Writing Maths, just 

below the England 

average of 24%. 

26.4% of 

children and 

young people 

with EHCPs are 

in mainstream 

schools (England 

average: 39.2%)

42.2% of 

children and 

young people 

with EHCPs are in 

special schools  

(England average: 

38.6%)

22.9% of 

children and 

young people 

with EHCPs are in 

post 16 provision 

(England Average: 

16.2%)

DRAFT DRAFT

DRAFT

Page 19



Bristol Strategy for Children and Young People (0–25) with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 2019 – 2022

6

Themes
The following themes have been identified through a process of self-evaluation, review of local  
data and intelligence and consultation and engagement with local families and other stakeholders; 
this has included a pan-cultural engagement day where children and young people with SEND had 
an opportunity to to share their experiences of the barriers they face. An annual action plan is in 
place deliver improvements within these themes. An accessible one page version of the strategy 
and action plan is available here.

Outcomes

Understanding of the outcomes sought for, and by children and young people with 
SEND, and clarity of the progress made towards those outcomes.

Transparent, Effective Governance

Good governance, and transparent and understandable systems, business processes, 
and shared understanding and accountability across education, health and care.

Early Identification and Response 

Early identification of children with SEND, quick and appropriate referrals, and clear 
pathways for self-referral for children and young people with SEND and their families.

Participation and Co-Production 
Placing the aspirations, wishes and experiences of children and young people 
and their parents and carers at the centre of person centred planning and the 
development of our services and provision.

Quality and Improvement 

Robust quality assurance, self-assessment and feedback cycles, driving improvement 
across the area.

Joint Commissioning and Funding  

Jointly planned and commissioned provision and services, underpinned by outcomes, 
feedback and data.

Statutory Duties  
Review services through feedback and quality assurance to improve and integrate 
provision and promote the health, wellbeing, development and learning of children 
and young people with SEND.

DRAFT DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

Page 20



Bristol Strategy for Children and Young People (0–25) with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 2019 – 2022

7

Strategic Governance Arrangements
The Local Area Strategic SEND Partnership drives 
and oversees the changes required to fully 
implement the SEND reforms as outlined by the 
Children and Families Act 2014 and the SEND Code 
of Practice 2015.

The SEND Partnership Group will provide drive 
and oversight by: 

●● Having a detailed understanding of the area’s 

strategic and substantive SEND functions.

●● Developing the SEND Action Plan, reviewing 

existing documentation, and developing new 

draft documentation with partners and the 

parent carer forum.

●● Driving the delivery of the SEND Action Plan 

through sub groups and linking together 

improvement, assurance and development, and 

training.

●● Stress testing the system, to ensure that demand 

fluctuations are understood and reported, and 

monitoring performance to ensure all partners 

are held to account and develop linked in service 

level solutions to issues as they arise.

●● Collating  feedback and  event material, and 

tasking and supporting engagement and 

participation events.

●● Monitoring operational development and 

parental engagement of the Local Offer and 

driving the development of Joint Commissioning.

●● Reporting through Governance and Leadership 

structures. 

We are committed to driving improvement in our 
quality of practice and compliance.  We will do this 
through a robust Quality Assurance Framework 
that is centred on scrutiny and challenge 

The Quality Assurance Framework includes:

●● A Multi-Agency Improvement Board with an 

Independent chair (DfE/LGA Advisor) who will 

provide high support and high challenge to the 

partnership system through the triangulation of 

performance data, feedback and complaints and 

multi-agency audit of casework.

●● A Performance Board monitoring and scrutinising 

data and analysis of progress and pace, 

underpinned by team level monthly performance 

clinics to ensure that managers understand the 

link between practice quality and data.

●● Reporting from the SEND Partnership Group by 

exception.

●● Individual service level audit and quality check 

and workforce appraisal.

The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) has 
oversight of arrangements and outcomes for 
children and young people with SEND and holds 
the Local Area Strategic SEND Partnership to 
account for delivery of the SEND Strategy and 
SEND Action Plan. The membership of the HWB 
includes two SEND champions to provide oversight 
and challenge on behalf of the Board.

Bristol is currently transforming wider governance 
arrangements for safeguarding and community 
safety. The Local Area Strategic SEND Partnership 
Group will also report to the newly formed 
Keeping Bristol Safe Board on progress and 
challenges. The Keeping Bristol Safe Board will 
support delivery of the strategy by promoting 
inclusive practice across the wider partnership and 
ensuring alignment of their work and resources to 
enable delivery of this shared vision for children 
and young people with SEND.

Learning City is also a key partner in this work. 
The Learning City Partnership will oversee delivery 
of elements of the action plan, particularly in 
relation to educational outcomes and preparing 
for adulthood. 

This is arrangement is illustrated overleaf.

DRAFT DRAFT

DRAFT

Page 21



8

Inclusion in 
Education

Training and 
Development Local Offer

Joint 
Commissioning

Excellence in 
Schools

Learning City 
Partnership

Keeping Bristol 
Safe Board*

* New Statutory Safeguarding Board

JSNA Steering 
Group

Inform strategy

Health and 
Wellbeing Board

Strategy Oversight 
and Assurance

Local Area Strategic 
SEND Partnership Group
Drive delivery of SEND 

Strategy

Corporate 
Parenting Panel

Challenge and support for 
our most vulnerable children 

in care and care leavers

Delivery of SEND Action Plan

Ensure alignment and coherence with 
other strategies and commissioning

Preparing for 
Adulthood

Voice and 
InfluenceDRAFT

DRAFT

P
age 22



Designed by Bristol Design, Bristol City Council   BD11934

DRAFT

DRAFT

Page 23



 
 
 
 

Bristol Local Area 
SEND self-evaluation  
 
 

June 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Version  

1.0  

2.0 Changes from EDM 

3.0  

4.0 Added Contents page 

  

  

 
  

Page 24



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 2  
 

Contents 

 
1. Executive summary .............................................................................................. 3 

2. Introduction ......................................................................................................... 6 

3. Leadership ........................................................................................................... 6 

4. Joint Commissioning ............................................................................................ 8 

5. How effectively does Bristol identify children and young people with SEND? .... 10 

5.1 Identify: What we do ................................................................................... 10 

5.2 Identify: Is it effective? ................................................................................ 12 

5.3 Identify: Analysis .......................................................................................... 13 

6. How effectively does Bristol assess and meet the needs of children and young 

people with SEND? ................................................................................................... 14 

6.1 Assess and meet need: What we do ............................................................ 14 

6.2 Assess and meet need: Is it effective? ......................................................... 20 

6.3 Assess and meet need: Analysis ................................................................... 23 

7. How effectively does Bristol improve outcomes for children and young people 

with SEND? .............................................................................................................. 24 

7.1 Improving outcomes: What we do ............................................................... 24 

7.2 Improving outcomes: Is it effective? ............................................................ 25 

7.3 Improving outcomes: Analysis ..................................................................... 28 

  

Page 25



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 3  
 

1. Executive summary 
 
1.1 In Bristol we have the highest aspirations for all our children and young people, including 

those with special educational needs and or disabilities (SEND). We are committed to 
working in partnership to meet the requirements of the Children and Families Act in a way 
that is ambitious, inclusive and realistic in a challenging financial context. 

 
1.2 As an area we recognise, and this self-evaluation confirms, that while there are many 

examples of good practice, there is work to be done to reach the aspirations of Bristol’s 
children and young people with SEND, and the Children and Families Act. 

 
1.3 This self-evaluation describes how effectively the local area identifies, assesses and meets 

the needs, and improves the outcomes of the different groups of children and young 
people with SEND. 

 
1.4 Key strengths and areas for development are described below.  Areas for development are 

being addressed through the local area SEND Action Plan, which is being delivered by the 
Local Area SEND Strategic Partnership Group (“the SEND Partnership Group”). 

 
1.5 Key strengths include: 

 Strengthened governance arrangements have been in place since March 2019 and are 
driving improvement activity.  Overseen by the Health and Wellbeing Board, the Local 
Area SEND Strategic Partnership Group has developed a local area SEND Strategy and 
has helped to prioritise SEND across the partnership. 

 Early Years’ Service – effective partnership working and training is in place for 
practitioners to identify, assess and meet the needs of young children with SEND. The 
health visiting service is working with children’s centre staff to undertake joint 
development reviews at two years old.  There is good identification of young children 
with SEND and the majority of those with more complex needs are supported by 
maintained nursery schools which have specialist skills and expertise. 

 Good and improving SEND outcomes at Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS). The 
proportion of children receiving SEN support achieving at least the expected standard 
in all Early Learning Goals (ELGs) has improved significantly in 2018 and is above 
England average.  There is a similar trend for children receiving SEN support achieving a 
good level of development at EYFS. 

 Bristol Parent Carers provide a range of effective consultation and engagement 
mechanisms and have influenced recent commissioning decisions, including the 
recommissioning of targeted short breaks and Bristol SEND Information, Advice and 
Support Service. 

 Project Rainbow is an example of collaborative working between the council, young 
people, families, post -16 provider and partner professionals to improve Bristol’s local 
offer for young people with SEND post-16. This 5 year project, of which we are in year 
3, has already demonstrated great success in improving the preparing for adulthood 
outcomes and opportunities for young people with SEND. The success of this project 
has led to the establishment of a second site which increases capacity for young people 
to develop independence skills.  

Page 26



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 4  
 

 There are good examples of effective joint commissioning and the use of pooled 
budgets, including short breaks, child and adolescent mental health services, and 
autism services.  

 The Joint Agency Panel (JAP) includes representatives from education, social care and 
the CCG, who meet monthly to review the needs of children and young people with 
complex needs who require a jointly funded package of support. 

 Low numbers permanent exclusions for children with SEND (and none for children 
with EHCPs) have been achieved through the work of the Alternative Learning Provision 
Hub and partnership working in schools.   
 

 Improving educational outcomes for children with SEN Support at all Key Stages 
which are in line with England averages for this cohort.  This includes achieving the 
expected standard in reading, writing and maths at Key Stage 2 and Attainment 8 score 
at Key Stage 4.  There has also been good progress for children in our care with SEND. 

 
1.6 Key areas for development include: 

 Timeliness and quality of Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs).  The timeliness of 
issuing new EHCPs and completing annual reviews is poor and has resulted in very low 
parental confidence in the local system.  While workforce development training has 
impacted positively on the quality of contributions to EHCPs, parents tell us that the 
overall quality of children’s plans still needs to improve.  A funded recovery plan to 
address backlogs and achieve compliance with statutory timescales by December 2019 
is now in place, and, an improved quality assurance framework has been developed to 
drive and monitor quality. 

 Challenges to decisions.  The number of challenges being made to decisions of the 
local authority and to the content of EHCPs is a significant concern.  An officer has been 
recently appointed to manage mediations, appeals to SENDIST and to liaise with 
parents on disagreements. 

 Local offer.  Significant work has taken place to improve the Local Offer and the 
website has been being co-produced by the Council, CCG and Bristol Parent Carers 
since September 2018.  Further promotion and awareness-raising needs to take place 
to ensure it to become the go-to source of information for children, young people, 
families and carers.   

 Inclusion and access to mainstream education.  The proportion of children and young 
people with EHCPs in mainstream schools is low in comparison to other areas.  This is 
due to a previous capital strategy that invested in special school provision which has 
influenced parental choice and a local top up funding arrangements that have 
contributed to an unusual EHCP profile.   There is also inconsistent inclusion practice 
across the mainstream school system, which is a concern that is shared by Bristol 
Parent Carers.   

 Attendance and exclusions.  There is poor school attendance, high persistent absence 
and high levels of fixed term exclusions for children with SEND.  Focused work to 
improve this situation is taking place, including tracking guidance and training by 
Education Welfare, promoting positive attendance through the Hope Virtual School and 
Bristol Inclusion Panel, and Fair Access Panels.  Behaviour management approaches will 

Page 27



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 5  
 

be developed that acknowledge issues such as adverse childhood experiences for all 
vulnerable pupils including those with SEND. 

 Low numbers permanent exclusions for children with SEND (and none for children 
with EHCPs) have been achieved through the work of the Alternative Learning Provision 
Hub and partnership working in schools.  Although we have reduced PX for SEND, we 
still have too many CYP with SEND in AP and are actively working with schools to 
address this.  We have made significant progress with our joined up working with the 
school sector over the past three years. Council services and schools are acting to 
reduce the number of children with SEND going into AP through: 
- Limiting the amount of AP that schools can access - with their agreement and 

involvement in managing referrals to and from AP. 
- Increasing the focus and scrutiny on graduated response and early intervention 

before referring to AP. 
- All 22 secondary schools, 2 PRUs and 3 AP Schools meet every fortnight at Bristol 

Inclusion Panel) to jointly manage movement into and out of AP. 
- Headteachers/Principals are acknowledging and investing in improving our systems 

use and access.  We have a collaborative, dynamic and functional approach, 
imperfect but open to change and improvement. 

 Educational outcomes for children with EHCPs.  Attainment and progress measures for 
children with EHCPs at Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 have declined and are below 
England average.  A number of strands of work are underway to address this, including 
a targeted school improvement commission from the inclusion service and an 
improved offer of preventative and or targeted work undertaken by specialist services 
(Educational Psychology, Autism Teams, Sensory Support Services, Alternative Provision 
Team, for example) to support education settings. 

 Preparation for adulthood.  We do not effectively start transition planning for young 
people with SEND from the age of 14 years, meaning that individuals are being 
prepared for adulthood as young adults rather than as children.  NEET rates for SEND 
young people have also been higher than in other areas, although this is improving.  
This impacts on the ability to commission the most appropriate and cost-effective 
support for young people with SEND.  A fully funded proposal for a Pathway to 
Adulthood team beginning work at 14 years has been approved and funded to address 
these issues and deliver better outcomes. 

 Use of data and intelligence.  Data quality assurance mechanisms need to be in place 
and data needs to be used more effectively across the local area to inform planning and 
commissioning and drive improvement.   

 Whilst there are some good examples of joint commissioning there is not consistent 
practice in all commissioning activity. Following staff restructures in the CCG and BCC, 
with the loss of a jointly funded strategic manager, new arrangements for strategic 
joint commissioning need to be established that can replicate the good practice in JAP 
at an operational level as well as ensuring that needs identified at operational level 
feed into strategic developments. 

 

  

Page 28



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 6  
 

2. Introduction 
 
2.1 This self-evaluation details the extent to which the Bristol local area is effectively 

identifying, assessing and meeting the needs of children and young people with SEND and 
improving outcomes.  It cannot (and does not) reflect in detail the total range of work 
going on across the area or the many developments planned. 
 
 

3. Leadership 
 
3.1 In January 2019, Bristol’s first One City Plan was published.  Partners from across the city’s 

business, charitable, academic and public sectors all contributed to the first draft of the 
plan which aims to make Bristol a fair, healthy and sustainable - a city of hope and 
aspiration, where everyone can share in its success. This includes a commitment that by 
2050 everyone in Bristol will have the best start in life, gaining the support and skills they 
need to thrive and prosper in adulthood including improved support for children with 
special educational needs in the city.  A range of policies and strategies including the 
Children’s Charter, Children, Young People and Families Strategy, Accessibility Strategy set 
out the local area’s ambition to create an inclusive city, our SEND Strategy is aligned to 
these. 

 
3.2 Governance and Leadership structures have strengthen and improved delivering 

investment, resources, improved partnership and engagement with parent carer forum 
and chair.   

 
3.3 The SEND Partnership Group drives and oversees the changes required to fully implement 

the SEND reforms as outlined by the Children and Families Act 2014 and the SEND Code of 
Practice 2015.  

 
3.4 The SEND Partnership Group will provide drive and oversight by:  

 Having a detailed understanding of the area’s strategic position, and substantive SEND 
functions. 

 Developing the SEND Action Plan, reviewing existing documentation, and developing 
new draft documentation with partners and the parent carer forum.  

 Driving the delivery of the SEND Action Plan through sub groups and linking together 
improvement, assurance and development, and training. 

 Stress testing the system, to ensure that demand fluctuations are understood and 
reported, and monitoring performance to ensure all partners are held to account and 
develop linked in service level solutions to issues as they arise. 

 Collating feedback and  event material, and tasking and supporting engagement and 
participation events. 

 Monitoring operational development and parental engagement of the Local Offer and 
driving the development of Joint Commissioning. 

 Reporting through Governance and Leadership fora.  
 
3.5 We are committed to driving improvement in our quality of practice and compliance.  We 

will do this through a robust Quality Assurance Framework that is centred on scrutiny and 
high support and high challenge. 

Page 29



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 7  
 

 
3.6 The QA Framework includes: 

 A Multi-Agency Improvement Board with an Independent chair (DfE/LGA Advisor) who 
will provide high support and high challenge to the partnership system through the 
triangulation of performance data, feedback and complaints and multi-agency audit of 
casework. 

 A Performance Board monitoring and scrutinising data and analysis of progress and 
pace, underpinned by team level monthly performance clinics to ensure that managers 
understand the link between practice quality and data. 

 Reporting from the SEND Partnership Group by exception.  

 Individual service level audit and quality check and workforce appraisal.  
 
3.7 The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) has oversight of arrangements and outcomes for 

children and young people with SEND and holds the SEND Partnership Group to account 
for delivery of the SEND Strategy and SEND Action Plan. The membership of the HWB 
includes two Senior Executive SEND champions to provide oversight and challenge on 
behalf of the Board. 
 

3.8 Within the Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
group (BNSSG CCG) the Director for Transformation has the over-arching responsibility for 
SEND. The Designated Clinical Officer (DCO) for Bristol works in collaboration with the DCO 
for South Gloucestershire and North Somerset.  
 

3.9 Local governance arrangements for SEND are illustrated below.  
 

Local Area SEND 
Partnership

 Drive delivery of SEND 

Strategy 

JSNA Steering
Group 

Inform strategy

 
Preparing for 

Adulthood 
 

 
Inclusion in 
Education

 

Joint 
Commissioning 

 
Training and 

Development
 

Local Offer
 

Voice and 
Influence

 
Keeping Bristol 

Safe Board* 
 

Health and 
Wellbeing Board
 Strategy oversight 

and assurance

Learning City
 Partnership

 

Ensure alignment and coherence with other strategies 

and commissioning 

Delivery of SEND Action Plan

Excellence in 
Schools 

 

Corporate Parenting Panel
 Challenge and support for our 

most vulnerable children in care 
and care leavers

Figure 1: Strategic governance arrangements 

 
3.10 The documents key to the improvement framework for SEND and their relationships are 

illustrated below. 
 

Page 30



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 8  
 

 
Figure 2: SEND Improvement Documents 

 
3.11 The Bristol Strategy for Children and Young People (0–25) with Special Educational Needs 

and Disabilities 2019–2022 sets out our vision and key work areas through which we will 
deliver improved and effective provision and services for children and young people with 
SEND.  The SEND Action Plan sets out our priorities and how we will work together to 
deliver this strategy. 

 
3.12 The Bristol  SEND Joint Strategic Needs Assessment spotlight report (June 2019) includes 

detailed data on needs and outcomes, evidence of effectiveness, local views, good 
practice, analysis and proposed recommendations. 

 
 

4. Joint Commissioning 
 
4.1 The SEND Partnership Group is overseeing the development of the Bristol Joint SEND 

Commissioning Strategy (“Joint Commissioning Strategy”).   The Joint Commissioning 
Strategy will set out our strategic response and approach to meeting the needs of children 
and young people in Bristol with SEND including how we use our existing Section 75 Pooled 
Budget between the Council and the CCG.   There is a newly recruited Joint Commissioner 
appointed by the Council ‘Peoples’ Directorate and the CCG.    

 
4.2 There are many good examples of joint commissioning between the council and Bristol, 

North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (BNSSG CCG) and 
effective use of pooled budgets including: 

 Community Children’s Health Partnership (CCHP), for which BNSSG CCG is the lead 
agency and Bristol City Council is an associate commissioner. BCC were involved in the 
programme board to commission this contract and Strategic Commissioning and Public 
Health reps participate in the regular quarterly contract management meetings. 

 BNSSG CCG is a partner in Bristol City Council’s Youth Offending Team and contributes 
£117k to the pooled budget.   

 The Targeted Short Breaks offer for disabled children has recently been 
recommissioned. For further details see Appendix 1 Good practice example – 
Recommissioning of Targeted Short Breaks Service. 

Page 31



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 9  
 

 The Joint Agency Panel, including representatives from education, social care and the 
CCG, meet monthly to review the needs of children and young people with complex 
needs and agree jointly funded packages of support together.  This is good practice at 
an operational commissioning level and now needs to be replicated at strategic level. 
There is a meeting planned in July to bring relevant partners together to establish the 
strategic group. This group will report into the Local Area SEND Partnership Board. 

 The area has jointly commissioned the SEND Information, Advice and Support Service 
for Bristol. The commissioning was facilitated by an agreement to increase the joint 
budget for the service. 

 NHS England and BCC, working with S Gloucestershire Council, jointly commissioned an 
Intensive Positive Behaviour Support for Autism (IPBS-A) pilot until January 2020. 
Discussions are underway to agree future funding to continue the service.  

 Bristol is working with 12 partner local authorities, on a commissioning exercise to 
procure a flexible framework to purchase independent and non-maintained special 
schools (INMSS) placements. Working together the local authorities will ensure good 
safeguarding practice, high quality and service improvement as well as value for money 
in their placements. The Principal Commissioning Manager is a member of the National 
SEND Special Interest Group and is currently involved in developing a placement fee 
template which DfE hopes to adopt as a national template. For further details see 
Appendix 2 Good Practice example - Framework to purchase independent and non-
maintained special schools (INMSS) placements. 

 The Bristol Autism Team, Family Learning & Family Support Hub (FLFSH): funded largely 
through S75 agreements, the Hub is often the first point of contact for a family 
following a diagnosis of Autism or going through the assessment process as part of the 
Autism Care pathway.  The team’s aim is to provide support by signposting and helping 
families navigate services and information. Through service feedback we know this 
helps families in crisis, prevents family breakdown, decreases social isolation and 
improves attendance and attainment for YP with ASC/ SEND.  

 With a focus on independent living, 15 housing units (across three housing schemes) 
with care and support are being commissioned for young people moving in to adult 
services in 2019-20.  Young people and their families are co-producing the build 
specification, care and support design with commissioners and will be involved in 
awarding the contract. 

 Project Rainbow, previously mentioned, has been jointly commissioned by the Council 
and City of Bristol College, providing an education residential training centre through 
The Brislington Centre and from January 2020 moving on ‘pods’ to develop further 
their independence.  A new site has now been identified north of the city so that we 
have a city-wide offer and this is planned to be built and opened in 2022/2023. 
 

4.3 There are currently a variety of commissioning arrangements that operate in Bristol City 
Council: there is a Strategic Commissioning team that is based in Children and Families 
division and delivers services across Early Intervention, Social Care and some Education 
provision. There is a Placement brokerage team in Social Care and a SEND team in 
Education that deliver operational commissioning, particularly placements and both teams 
are part of the JAP arrangements, though Strategic Commissioning is not. In addition some 
services are commissioned directly by operational staff for example NEET provision. This 
can lead to inconsistent commissioning practice and on occasion duplication which makes 
it difficult to deliver a coherent, effective and efficient service offer, and can result in a 
fragmented offer to service users. In addition it can make it difficult to ensure the right 

Page 32



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 10  
 

‘join up’ with the relevant partners to effectively deliver joint commissioning. As a result 
there is currently a drive to review these arrangements with the aim of bringing Children’s 
Services Commissioning together in a single team.  

 
 

5. How effectively does Bristol identify children and young people 
with SEND? 

 
5.1 Identify: What we do 
 
5.1.1. Early years 

The Early Years’ Service aims to give every child a good start in life through the provision of 
an integrated offer of early education, childcare, health and family support services. This is 
delivered through Early Years settings (including childminders), schools and Children’s 
Centres in partnership with Health, Families in Focus and the Voluntary sector to support 
this aspiration. Special educational needs provision for children in the early years is jointly 
planned and delivered with these key partners so that children and families can access an 
equitable service offer across the city.  

 
Children with SEND are identified through a range of early opportunities including: 
Children’s Centres 

 live birth data is shared with Children’s Centres, enabling early contact to be made with 
families by Family Support practitioners; 

 information sharing protocols are in place with Health Visitors to enable joint working 
and a coordinated approach; 

 multi-agency intake meetings led by Health and attended by Early Years members 
support a coherent approach, though this more embedded in some areas of the city. 

 
Early years settings private, voluntary and independent providers (PVI’s), childminders, 
nursery classes and schools 

 Bristol’s Early Years settings are of high quality, nurseries and child minders have  good 
or outstanding inspection judgements.  

 every school and setting has a SENCo who is able to coordinate support for children 
with emerging and more complex needs. They are members of a SENCo Network that 
meets on a termly basis, 

 joint commissioning is in place for a discrete Speech, Language and Communication 
(SLC) Early Years offer, providing an integrated approach to support for practitioners in 
early identification of SLC and clinical support for children and families. 

 
5.1.2. Statutory school age  

The Inclusion Service provides a link Educational Psychologist for every maintained, 
academy and free school in Bristol and works with children and young people across the 
city according to their needs and the requirements of schools and settings.  There are 
Autism and Sensory Impairment Teachers and Primary Mental Health Specialists (PMHS) 
linked to each school age and Post 16 education provider in the city. There is also a Speech 
& Language Therapist for every (non-independent) primary and secondary school in Bristol 
offering school based drop-in clinics. This provides support to settings to correctly identify 

Page 33



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 11  
 

children and young people who have SEND according to primary and or secondary needs 
(including comorbidity).  
 
Families and education providers can make a referral to social care for an assessment 
through the First Response Single Point of Entry. The Disabled Children’s Register is held in 
social care by the Disabled Children and Specialist Service, and parents can independently 
register their child.  Referrals are also made to specialist SEND Services, Education Welfare, 
and Elective Home Education. The ambition is that this information will be collated on the 
SEND Data Dashboard to support planning and commissioning. 
 
Bristol Autism Team and Sensory Support Service hotlines enable rapid access for children 
and young people with specific need types, families and education providers that support 
early identification.   

 
5.1.3. Health services 

Acute and secondary care services for children in Bristol are provided at Bristol Royal 
Hospital for Children.  This is a regional centre which hosts specialist teams including 
paediatric intensive care, cardiac care, burns and plastics, oncology, renal, neurology, 
trauma and orthopaedics, dietetics, audiology including newborn hearing screening, 
diabetes care, and paediatric palliative care.  Services are commissioned by NHS England 
(specialist services) and BNSSG Clinical Commissioning Group, who are responsible for 
monitoring performance.  Maternity Services including Neonatal Intensive Care are 
provided at St Michael’s Hospital and Southmead Hospital.  NICU services are 
commissioned by NHS England and maternity services by BNSSG CCG. 

 
Community Services for children and young people are provided by the Community 
Children’s Health Partnership (CCHP).  This includes community paediatrics, therapies, 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health, Public Health Nursing, and specialist services including 
looked after children’s health, substance misuse, health and justice, sexually harmful 
behaviour.  Referrals for these services can be made through the CCHP Single Point of 
Entry.  Initial advice for parents concerned about their child can be obtained from the 
weekly Speech and Language Therapy, Occupational Therapy and Physiotherapy advice line 
that operates on a Wednesday morning.  The advice line receives an average of five calls 
per session.  

 
5.1.4. Children in Care with SEND 

The HOPE School (the HOPE) is Bristol’s Virtual School for Children in Care. The HOPE also 
offers advice and information to parents, carers and a wide range of professionals 
supporting previously looked after children.  The Head of the HOPE works closely with 
Through Care Managers and the Children Looked after Health Team.  The HOPE has a SEND 
lead who oversees the identification, provision and progress of children in care with SEND 
in the virtual school. The HOPE ensures that young people in care with SEND are attending 
appropriate settings and supports the identification of need and ensures that where 
progress isn’t being made plans are reviewed and escalated as necessary. 

 
All children in care have an initial health assessment when they come into care and then 
review health assessments every six months for children under five and annually for 
children over five. The health assessment produces a health care action plan which should 
indicate SEND or any health issues that may or may not be known already. 

Page 34



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 12  
 

 
5.1.5. Support for Educational Settings 

The Safeguarding in Education team organise network meetings for Designated 
Safeguarding Leads (DSLs) in schools three times per year.  Part of the training is 
supporting schools with identifying vulnerable groups within their school system, including 
children and young people who have SEND.  An additional series of meetings, again three 
times per year, have now been arranged for DSLs in special schools.  Specialist 
safeguarding training has been provided for staff in special schools. This has been an 
opportunity for staff to explore issues, ask questions and build their knowledge and 
confidence in relation to the safeguarding of children both related to the SEND which they 
may have and also in relation to their lives more generally. 

 
 

5.2 Identify: Is it effective? 
 
5.2.1. Early years 

Of the most disadvantaged two-year-old children in Bristol 69.3% are currently accessing 
their entitlement to a free early education place of a total of 1,808 eligible children. Of the 
two year old children who have been identified by the Department of Work and Pensions 
(DWP) as having complex needs and therefore allocated the Disability Living Allowance, 
91% are taking up their offer of free early education. 
 
In 2018, 372 children accessing early years provision received additional funding from the 
Early Years SEND panel for emerging or more complex SEND.  The majority of children with 
more complex needs are accessing their provision in the maintained nursery schools which 
have specialist skills and expertise. 
Overall, 10% of children in the Early Years Foundation Stage children receive SEN support.  
This is in line with the England average and slightly below our Statistical Neighbours (“SN”) 
average of 11%.  
 

5.2.2. Primary schools  

 The percentage of primary pupils with SEN support has remained stable over the last 
three years and was 12.7% in 2018, in line with SN and the England average (13.8% and 
12.4% respectively).   

 0.7% of children in primary schools had an EHCP in 2018.  This figure has reduced 
significantly over the last 9 years and is half the England and SN average of 1.4%.   
 

5.2.3. Secondary schools 

 In 2018 12.8% of secondary pupils were receiving SEN support. This has increased 
slightly over the last three years but remains in line with the SN average of 12.0%.   

 The percentage of secondary phase pupils who have an EHCP has reduced significantly 
since 2016, and was 1.6% of pupils in 2018.  This is now in line with SN and the England 
average.  

 
5.2.4. Across all phases the percentage of all pupils with EHCPs in 2018 has decreased and was 

2.4% in 2018.  This is against a national increase in the numbers of pupils with EHCPs and is 
below the SN and England average of 2.9% pupils with EHCPs. However, the percentage of 
all pupils with SEN support is above the England average and in line with SN average. There 
are a lower proportion of children with newly issued EHCPs in mainstream schools than the 

Page 35



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 13  
 

SN and England average. This is an area of concern and raises a range of issues including 
parental perceptions and the quality of inclusive practice in schools. 

 
5.2.5. Children in Care and care leavers in 2019: 

 25.59% (141 out of 551) of children in care have an EHCP. 

 14.87% (62 out of 417) of current care leavers have an EHCP.   
 
5.2.6. Children in Need (“CiN”) 

The percentage of CiN with an EHCP increased to 26.6% in 2017 well above the SN average 
at that time of 17.2%.  Following a remodelling of the Disabled Children Social Work Team, 
better targeted early help and family support services has reduced the proportion of CiN 
with EHCPs.  The percentage of school–age CiN with SEN support is now in line with SN 
average. 

 
 

5.3 Identify: Analysis 
 
5.3.1. In Bristol a number of strengths have been identified: 

 The Early Years’ Service is building on its strengths in terms of partnership working and 
training for practitioners to identify, assess and meet the needs of children and young 
people with SEND.  Developments include: 
- Department for Education (DfE) funding has been obtained to train two trainers in 

the delivery of the new Level 3 SENCO award. The first cohort of PVI practitioners 
are now more than half way through their training and feedback from the lead 
organisation (NASEN) has recognised the quality of our Bristol programme. Our 
aspiration is to ensure that every PVI setting will have a Level 3 trained SENCO over 
the next three years. 

- Working with the Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists and I-CAN on a 
funded programme to improve parents’ awareness of their role in supporting their 
children’s early language and communication skills, which is focussing on training 
parent Communication Champions to provide peer support and developing the 
Home Learning Environment.   

- Participating in a DfE funded three year programme (PDF), which will provide 
Professional Development in Communication, Language and Literacy for early years 
practitioners in the most disadvantaged areas of the city. Skilling up the early years 
workforce will help to identify children experiencing CLL challenges and provide 
effective intervention.  

 
5.3.2. The following areas for development have been identified: 

 Early years.  Although a strong infrastructure is in place to support the early 
identification of children and young people with SEND, it is not yet fully embedded, and 
in some instances children who neither take up their Early Education entitlement or 
access Children’s Centre services may fall through the net.  A SEND identification 
process is now in development which will strengthen referrals from health services for 
any child in the early years who has been identified as having a special educational 
need or disability.  

 Use of data and intelligence.  It is acknowledged that although the data is available and 
reported we need to bring together and use the data to inform the SEND Action Plan 

Page 36



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 14  
 

including joint planning and commissioning.  Data quality assurance mechanisms, and 
training and development are also required.   

 Whole-system approach to identifying needs. We know that there are some 
weaknesses and areas where the identification of needs does not take place or if it 
does this information is not consistently shared and collected, for example by GPs. 
Further training for health clinicians is to take place in Sept 2019 about identifying 
needs, assessment and meeting needs and achieving outcomes. 

 
 

6. How effectively does Bristol assess and meet the needs of children 
and young people with SEND? 

 

6.1 Assess and meet need: What we do 
 
6.1.1. Early Years 

 The Together@2 Review is an aligned approach that brings together the Early Years 
Foundation Stage for Early Years Professionals, and the Healthy Child Programme for 
Health Visitors, including the development and implementation of an integrated 
developmental progress check for two year olds which will provide opportunities to 
identify children following different developmental pathways that are not already 
known to the local authority and provide appropriate intervention. For further details 
see Appendix 3 Good Practice example - Bristol Early Years Together @2 Review. 

 Rainbow Stay and Play groups offer a weekly drop in opportunity designed specifically 
for parents and carers with a child with SEND.  

 The Early Years Portage and Inclusion Team provide support to families with children 
with SEND from birth to five years and early years practitioners. 

 Bristol’s National Teaching School works in partnership with the Early Years’ Service to 
recruit and deploy Specialist Leaders of Education (SLEs) in response to early years 
priorities. There are currently 3 SLEs with specific expertise in SEND.  

 Specialist Children’s Centre Inclusion Practitioners (SCCIPs) provide dedicated support 
to children and their families who are accessing a childminding placement including 
ensuring the Childminder has the relevant training to meet the child’s needs, 
supporting the Childminder in writing and monitoring the Individual Education Plan 
(IEP) and Individual Provision Plan (IPP).  They also support the Childminder in applying 
for Early Years SEN Panel Funding and planning and arranging the completion of the 
Support Plan.   

 Training for early years practitioners includes: 
- The Bristol Early Years Teaching School offer Initial Teacher Training ‘Introduction to 

working with Children with SEND’ annually and Continuous Professional 
Development (CPD) sessions ‘An introduction to working with children with SEND’ 
three times per year.  

- Early Years Lead Teachers are based in our 22 Children’s Centre sites and provide 
support for settings at a universal level, visiting each PVI setting termly, to provide 
supported self-evaluation in relation to an identified priority focus. SEND has been 
a recent priority focus (autumn 2018/spring 2019) for the Lead Teacher visits to PVI 
settings. 

 
6.1.2. Statutory school age 

Page 37



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 15  
 

Of the children and young people with SEND in Bristol, 2,598 have EHCPs and 7,325 (aged 
5-19) are supported at SEN Support level.  We have co-produced a local area SEN Support 
Plan – ‘The Bristol SEND Support Plan’.  Developed by the Inclusion in Education Group 
(representatives from early years, primary, secondary, post-16 and local authority) it has 
been trialled by SENCos, includes input and feedback from parents and will be introduced 
from September 2019.  Bristol’s Early Years, School Age and Post 16 Universal Descriptors 
provide guidance for education settings to accurately identify needs in line with the 0-25 
SEND Code of Practice broad descriptions of need and or clinical diagnosis. The local Top-
Up Process is recognised as being a factor which has contributed to Bristol’s unusual 
statistical SEND profile and as a result the Local Area SEND Partnership is reviewing the 
process and its impact. 
 
The Statutory EHC Needs Assessment Panel (Panel 1 – decision to assess) considers 
requests for EHC assessments.  This Panel meets weekly and has consistent representation 
from education, health and social care.   
 
The Outcome of Statutory EHC Needs Assessment Panel (Panel 2 – decision to issue an 
EHCP) reviews the information gathered through the EHC assessment process and makes a 
decision on whether an EHC plan will be issued.  This Panel meets fortnightly and has 
consistent representation from education, health and social care. 

 
6.1.3. The Bristol Autism Team Family Learning and Family Support Hub provide Family Learning 

Courses and include the Bristol Autism Project (BAP) which provides a variety of family 
activities in the school holidays.  For further details see Appendix 4 Good Practice example 
- Bristol Autism Team, Family Learning & Family Support Hub. 

 
6.1.4. The Bristol Autism Team Education Hub provides written advice in the form of Toolkits for 

Early Years, Primary and Secondary settings.  The Education Hub also provides specialist 
consultations to schools, and can offer direct input for Bristol-resident children and young 
people who meet the statutory criteria. The team delivers an important part of the EHC 
assessment processes, providing advice on all children and young people with a diagnosis 
of autism. They also contribute to EHC drafting meetings and annual reviews. 

 
6.1.5. Following the Autism Spectrum Health Care Pathway children and young people in Bristol 

receive timely access to an autism diagnosis, being assessed and where necessary receiving 
treatment within 18 weeks. 
 

6.1.6. There are ‘core offers’ in place for therapies and school health nursing which describe 
how services work to deliver outcomes for children and young people.  All CCHP delivered 
services aim to see children and young people within 18 weeks of referral. Local Area 
leaders in the CCG, Community Children’s Health Partnership (CCHP) and the Council are 
clear about who is financially responsible for providing therapy input to children with SEND 
where the child requires therapy provision that is above the core commissioned service 
offer for services.  
 

6.1.7. Thinking Allowed (TA) is a specialist branch of the Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services (CAMHS) that provides clinical services for Bristol’s looked after children and those 
children who have been adopted and are referred by Bristol Post Adoption Support Service 
(BASS).  TA is part of the Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust 

Page 38



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 16  
 

(AWP).  AWP was inspected by the Care Quality Commission in December 2018 which 
reported: “Thinking Allowed and Be Safe were examples of outstanding practice. These 
initiatives were dedicated to giving access to mental health therapies for looked after 
children, unaccompanied minors and asylum seekers, as well as children vulnerable to 
sexual exploitation … Emphasis is placed on collaborative and multi-agency working, with 
child and adolescent mental health services working alongside social care services and 
primary medical services.”  TA provides structured psychological consultation and guidance 
to the professionals working in the systems surrounding children and young people looked 
after wherever Bristol City Council places them.  This includes their carers, social workers 
and relevant health professionals.  TA also provides training to social workers, foster carers 
and adopters.  TA acts as a single point of entry for CAMHS referrals of children in the care 
of Bristol City Council.  For children placed outside Bristol, TA refer to the local CAMHS 
resources or independent providers as agreed with Bristol Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG).  TA seeks information from the providers to track and monitor the progress and 
outcomes of these referrals.  TA does not have a psychiatric practitioner within the team 
and accesses this service from locality CAMHS teams. For further details see Appendix 5 
Good Practice example - Thinking Allowed. 

 
6.1.8. Schools, health professionals or social care workers that require additional support to meet 

the needs of learning disabled children and young people with complex emotional 
behavioural and mental health difficulties can also refer to the monthly Complex Needs 
Group (CNG).  This is the referral pathway for the Positive Behaviour Support Programmes, 
The Positive Behaviour Support Service (PBSS) and the Intensive Positive Behaviour 
Support-Autism project (iPBS-A), managed by CAMHS. The iPBS-A has delivered an 
intensive Positive Behaviour Support programme to children and young people with a 
diagnosis of autism and who do not have a moderate or severe learning difficulty, but 
challenging behaviour that places them at risk of Tier 4 residential placement (age 0-18 
years but the service goes over this age to support transition to adult services).  For further 
details see Appendix 6 Good Practice example - Intensive Positive Behaviour Support 
Programme. 

 
6.1.9. Transition pathways are in place for health. These include UHB Medical (Children’s 

Hospital) pathway, Lifetime Continuing Care Pathway and the CCC/CHC Transition 
Pathway.    

 
6.1.10. The Families in Focus team offer “Team around the school” meetings or advice by 

telephone as part of a partnership with schools, area social work and other agencies. The 
focus is on prevention rather than crisis intervention and provides an opportunity for early 
conversations to take place about children and young people that schools are worried 
about, some of whom have SEND.  As a result of these conversations agencies work 
together to provide early help and support and when appropriate advice and guidance to 
coordinate a plan to meet the child and family’s needs.  

 
6.1.11. Children in Care 

The HOPE Virtual School works in partnership with a range of colleagues including those in 
social care and the SEND casework team supporting and developing practise to ensure 
setting and placement stability and appropriateness for all children and young people in 
care. The HOPE maintains an up to date SEND register for its pupils. Advocates track and 
monitor the progress of young people to ensure that progress is being made.  HOPE staff 

Page 39



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 17  
 

attend EHCP annual review meetings. Personal Education Plans (PEPs) are monitored and 
moderated to ensure a consistency of practise. This includes ensuring that the ‘core offer’ 
for the HOPE is distinguished from the Pupil Premium spend and both are supporting 
progress for each young person.  At PEP meetings progress and attendance are reviewed 
and challenged and the young person’s voice is heard and included within actions.  The 
Council receive a copy of all Looked after Children health care action plans and the HOPE 
Virtual School has access to these.   

 
6.1.12. Preparing for adulthood, independence and employment 

The current Preparing for Adulthood team receives referrals for a proportion of young 
people with SEND aged 17 to 25 year olds.  Therefore transition planning starts at this 
point, with adult services starting, and funded from 18.  The limitations of this approach 
are widely acknowledged and as a result this has been an area of focus in the Better Lives 
programme (the adult social care transformation programme).  Proposals for a Pathway to 
Adulthood Team have been developed and recently approved and funded (May 2019) to 
improve the current pathway for all young people aged 14 and over who will require adult 
services at 18 years and through to 25.  One specific outcome is to offer local based 
services that enable young people to remain in Bristol, combined with working on every 
young person’s strengths and skills through SMART plans, to ensure that when they reach 
adulthood they are able to be as independent as possible and be active members of their 
communities.  For young people this means developing a culture of high aspirations 
alongside practical planning.    

 
Project Rainbow is a successful collaboration between young people with SEND aged 16-
24, parents, City of Bristol College and Bristol City Council.  The project has been co-
designed with young people and parents and carers, having identified through their own 
experiences that there was a gap in post-16 provision and opportunities for young people 
with SEND.  It provides a residential training facility, the Brislington Centre, to prepare 
young people for adulthood.  City of Bristol provides the Progression into Independence 
course which young people take in the first year of participating in the project. For further 
details see Appendix 7 Good Practice example – Project Rainbow.   
 
With a focus on independent living, young people and their families are co-producing with 
commissioners the build specification and care and support design for 15 new housing 
units (across three housing schemes) with care and support. 
 
Bristol City Council has established an integrated Employment, Skills and Learning Team 
(ESL) which is made up of Adult and Community Learning, Apprenticeships, Employment 
Support and Post 16 Participation services. Overall, ESL aims to equalise education, 
employment and training and improve social mobility for young people post 16 and adults 
from priority communities, including Disabled people and those with additional learning 
needs: 

 The Post 16 Participation Team promotes, encourages and tracks young people who 
have SEND aged 16-25 years into Education, Employment and Training in partnership 
with the SEND Casework Team.  

 Bristol WORKS is a specialist project that champions’ young people (under 16) who 
have SEND having experiences of work, this is through local businesses pledging their 
support to schools. They offer varied and diverse opportunities for young people to 
engage with business, employees, work places, and ‘live projects’. See example below. 

Page 40



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 18  
 

 

For Knowle DGE, the SEN school activity has included a visit from Ebby’s kitchen who gave 
a specialist cooking session, whereby students were introduced to food preparation and 
tasting session. Students were fully engaged within the session. As a project extension to 
the wider hospitality opportunities, the learners then had two additional off site visits to 
other WORKS pledged employers,  Bristol Hotel and the South Gloucestershire Cricket 
grounds hospitality and events provision. Through this whole experience the students were 
fully immersed into the work areas an able to explore the industry and ask questions of 
employers.  
Example: Bristol Works activity available to Year 8 – 11 Year groups  

 

 The Employment Support Service has established the new “Bristol Works for 
Everyone”, (BWFE), Employment Support Programme for young people with SEND. For 
further details see Appendix 8 Good Practice example - Bristol WORKS for Everyone. 

 Bristol Community Learning Service (CLS) provides targeted community learning 
courses aimed at adults aged 19 plus without full level 2 qualifications.  

 Bristol Apprenticeship Service (BAS) manages Bristol City Council’s employee 
apprenticeship schemes and the On Site Bristol construction apprenticeship 
Programme.  Young people who have SEND receive support to develop ‘trade/industry’ 
skills and help to develop functional English, Maths, ICT skills and an awareness of 
future career options once qualified or part-qualified.   

 
As part of the transformation of the Bristol Preparing for Adulthood offer the pathways for 
transitions into adulthood from health, social care and education are being developed 
together to provide a wrap around service for all SEND young people. A lead professional 
for transitional planning is in the process of being recruited along with five workers to 
provide this specialist, performance managed, service to Bristol’s young people and 
families. This service will provide an improved focus on independence skills into adulthood, 
agreed pathways and a Bristol multi agency preparing for adulthood protocol. 
 

6.1.13. Local Offer 
Bristol’s SEND Local Offer was established in 2014 (originally known as Findability) and the 
website was jointly commissioned and co-produced by the Council, CCG and Bristol Parent 
Carers.  The Local Offer website provides comprehensive information, services and 
resources for children and young people from birth to 25 years old with SEND, and for their 
families and carers.  Over the initial 3 years, significant work took place on the Local Offer 
but due to resourcing issues this lapsed in 2018.  Since January 2019 work has been taking 
place involving these stakeholders to update and improve some key aspects. We are now 
in a position to form a collaborative working group, including Bristol Parent Carers, The 
Listening Partnership and the CCG in reviewing, commenting on and influencing the 
content now published.  The ongoing development of the Local Offer website will include a 
section for young people, which will be co-designed with young people.  Once these 
enhancements have taken place a full publicity and marketing campaign will commence so 
that this website is seen as the ‘one stop shop’ for information and guidance.  

 
6.1.14. SEND Information, Advice and Support Service 

In partnership, Bristol City Council and Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group have re-commissioned Bristol’s SEND Information, Advice 
and Support Service (SENDIAS service) for 2019-2022 with an increased budget of £140,000 

Page 41



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 19  
 

each year. Consultation took place with professionals, children and young people with 
SEND, and their parents and carers. This improved service commissioned will continue to 
be provided by Supportive Parents, including helpline open 5 days a week, providing 
monthly support group meetings and free parent courses designed to give an overview of 
relevant Education policies and specific information relating to special educational 
provision and training aimed at SENCOs, school governors and trainee Educational 
Psychologists. 

 
6.1.15. Engagement and co-production with children, young people, parents and carers 

Bristol Parent Carers (BPC) is one of the mechanisms by which we carry out strategic and 
service level engagement with parents and carers.  Service managers from Education, 
Social care and Therapy Service leads have regular meetings with BPC. The Chair of BPC is 
also the Vice Chair of the Local Area Strategic SEND Partnership.  Every month there are 'At 
Home' meetings at the BPC offices where professionals work with parents and carers about 
the development of, or changes to, services. BPC volunteers run Support Groups monthly 
in Central, North and South Bristol. Attended by advisors from the Carer Support Centre, 
Supportive Parents and social services these groups provide the chance for parent carers to 
get information, advice and practical support including help filling in forms as well as meet 
each other, share experience and have a free relaxing therapy.  There is also a main 
participation event held in June each year.   

 
Examples of the engagement of parent carers include: 

 the recommissioning of the Bristol SEND Information, Advice and Support Service 
2019-2022.  Consultation on the new specification for the service took place at BPC ‘At 
Home’ meetings enabling the priorities of parent-carers to be included in the design of 
the new service (one example; ensuring a year-round service in the new 
specification).  A BPC representative was part of the evaluation panel of the tendering 
process for this new contract. 

 the recommissioning of Targeted Short Breaks.   At the BPC main participation event in 
2018, workshops were facilitated to enable parent carers to provide feedback on the 
consultation for the new Short Breaks commission 2019-2022.  The commissioning 
team also attended ‘At Home’ events and participation workshops as well as 
conducting a survey to explore specific parts of the new service design and gain the 
views of parent carers. 

 in March 2019 Bristol Parent Carers and Bristol’s Disabled Children and Specialist 
Services held a Pan-Cultural Engagement Day about Social Care.  Parent carers of 
children and young people with SEND aged 0-18 were invited to a workshop to share 
the experience and any barriers that they or their community faces in accessing social 
care. It was also an opportunity to share information for example about short breaks, 
personal budgets, inclusive play and how to access further support. 

 
Services regularly engage with the Listening Partnership to gather views about how needs 
are being met and views on provision in Bristol. The Listening Partnership, commissioned 
by the council, is a regular forum group for young disabled people in Bristol aged 13-19 
years old, or with learning difficulties up to age 25. Young people are encouraged to have 
their say and learn about their rights, with guest speakers and workshops across a range of 
topics.  

 

Page 42



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 20  
 

Recent feedback about the Bristol Autism Team Family Learning and Family Support Hub 
shows that as a result of their input families and young people have among other things 
improved emotional well-being, the family environment is less chaotic and more 
sustainable and there is an improved quality of life for parents and carers, and other family 
members.  Individual Pupil Records maintained by the Bristol Autism Team Education Hub 
show how their advice enables children and young people with autism to make progress 
over time, with the majority of those with a diagnosis of autism able to remain within 
mainstream education and make progress. 
 
Barnardo’s HYPE (Helping Young People (children and families) to Engage) works with the 
Community Children’s Health Partnership (CCHP) supporting children and families to have 
a say and recognising them as experts in their own lives so that they can influence how 
their health services are delivered. 
 
Other recent examples of service user feedback include the Service User Experience project 
to evaluate parent and carer experience of the Speech and Language Therapy Drop-in 
Clinics and the SENCO Experience Survey to evaluate SENCO experience of the School Link 
Speech and Language Therapy Service.   

 
 

6.2 Assess and meet need: Is it effective? 
 
6.2.1. Education, health and care assessments and plans 

 In 2018 604 requests for EHC Needs Assessment were received and 428 assessments 
were undertaken, this was an increase of 190 assessments on the previous year and a 
further increase is projected in 2019.   

 Overall, the proportion of requests for assessment which were agreed increased by 
10% in 2017 and 19% in 2018.  The proportion of EHC needs assessment requests that 
have been agreed have increased over the last 3 years from 46% in 2016 to 75% in 
2018.   

 The timeliness of issuing new EHCPs has decreased significantly and is now well below 
comparators with 24% issued within twenty weeks (the statutory timescale) in 2018.  
This contrasts sharply with previous good performance which saw (excluding 
exceptions) 90% of EHCPs issued within 20 weeks in 2016, and 78% in 2017. 

 In June 2019, in addition to the 2,598 EHCPs in place and subject to review, there are 
159 EHCPs currently in draft form and waiting to be issued, 561 EHC Needs 
Assessments underway, of which 305 are at the advice seeking stage and 25 EHC Needs 
Assessments completed and now awaiting a decision whether or not to proceed to 
issuing an EHC Plan from the Outcome of Statutory EHC Needs Assessment Panel. 

 The volume of assessment requests and the delays in the responses from practitioners 
across the area contribute to the poor performance in issuing EHCPs.  This is a result of 
known capacity issues in particular the low number of Educational Psychologists.  

 As of June 2019 there is a significant number (1889) of EHCP Annual Reviews yet to be 
finalised.  There is a recovery plan in place and it is anticipated that this backlog will be 
cleared by December 2019. 

 
6.2.2. Waiting times for health services  

 Physiotherapy: performance remains strong with 98.3% of children commencing 
treatment within 18 weeks of referral.    

Page 43



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 21  
 

 Speech and Language: performance has improved significantly following a service 
redesign and in 2018-19 94.1% of children were seen within 18 weeks. 

 Occupational therapy: there have been performance challenges during 2018-19 and 
overall performance was 78.2% but in March 2019 it had recovered and 95% of children 
were seen within 18 weeks of referral. 

 Community paediatrics: performance significantly deteriorated in 2018-19 with a year-
end outturn of only 45% of children having a first appointment within 18 weeks.  In 
March 2019 54 children had waited more than 26 weeks for a first appointment and 
286 children had waited more than 18 weeks.   

 Child and Adolescent Mental Health:  there has been additional investment in this 
service using mental health transformation funding which has been focussed on crisis 
services and eating disorder services.   There has been improvement in performance in 
both areas as a result.  In 2018/19 94.4% of urgent eating disorder referrals 
commenced treatment within one week, with only one breach.   86.7% of routine 
eating disorder referrals commenced treatment within four weeks.  The percentage of 
urgent referrals assessed within one week has increased from 25% in 2017/18 to 45.7% 
in 2019/20.  Eighteen week referral to treatment performance is 82.1%. 

 Looked After Children’s health: the Looked After Children’s Nursing Service is not 
currently achieving its targets for completion of initial health assessments or review 
health assessments within the agreed timescale, although majority are being 
completed outside the timescale.  A Contract Performance Notice has been issued and 
a Remedial Action Plan is being agreed. 

 
6.2.3. Challenges to decisions 

 The number of appeals made to the SEND Tribunal against statutory decisions has 
increased significantly between 2015 and 2017 to 8.18 per 10,000 school population, 
which is well above SN (5.7) and England (5.45) averages.   

 The SEND tribunal appeal rate increased significantly between 2015 and 2017 to 2.5%, 
well above SN and England averages.   

 Refusal to Assess First Tier SEND Tribunals has decreased from 32 in 2016/2017 to 8 in 
2018/2019.   

 As of June 2019, there are 10 live appeals to the SEND Tribunal, and 12 cases awaiting 
mediation. 

 
6.2.4. Children in care 

CiC with SEND are in appropriate settings to meet their needs including mainstream 
schools. At transition points reviews ensure CiC are able to attend appropriate settings that 
meet their needs including mainstream schools and colleges.  The HOPE has good 
examples where transition has been made from specialist provision to mainstream 
settings.  CIC placed out of authority have a consistent support from The HOPE. 
 

6.2.5. Education, employment and training 
In 2019, the proportion of young people with an EHCP who were recorded as NEET or Not 
Known was 8% - this represents an improvement from 14% in 2018, and is better than the 
England average of 9.2%. This was achieved by decommissioning the EET participation 
contract and transferring the service back into local authority direct management from 
April 2018. This has enabled improved access to accurate information from a wider range 
of intelligence databases and improved collaborative working with linked teams.  The data 

Page 44



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 22  
 

provided was taken from the March-April submission and we have continued on a 
downward trajectory over the last six months.     
 
In 2019, the number of young people receiving SEN support was not recorded or reported. 
The local authority has been unable to access accurate data as the new Liquid Logic system 
has not been designed to capture SEN support information. This issue has been logged with 
the software developers but, to date, this remains unresolved resulting in a zero return. 

 

16 - 18 cohort  
 

19+ cohort  

336 100% Whole EHCP cohort 
 

458 100% Whole EHCP cohort 

307 89.20% 

EET, 292 attending FE or Sixth 
form provision. 11 in 
apprenticeships or job with 
training and 4 on reengagement 
programmes  

 

114 51.50% 

EET 106 in FE or Sixth form 
specialist provision, 4 in 
Employment  with training ( 
apprenticeship), 2 in 
supported internships, 2 in 
Reengagement provision  

25 6.90% 

NEET,  4 current situation not 
known, 2 in Custody, 3 not 
available for EET due to Health 
needs, 20 NEET  

 

51 9.30% 
46 NEET, 5 Not available to 
labour market, 

4 1.20% 4 Current situation not known  

 

293 46.80% 

293 Current situation not 
known - either activity has 
expired, or cannot be 
contacted  

 
 
6.2.6. Views of Bristol Parent Carers 

For this self-evaluation the Chair of Bristol Parent Carers has provided the following 
statement: 

 
“Parental confidence 
Parental confidence in SEND services in Bristol is low. This comes from a combination of 
historical challenges, multiple changes in senior leadership, underinvestment in skills and 
capacity and a lack of understanding by senior leaders around the impact of the 2014 
Children and Families Act.    
Attempts to cut the High Needs Block budget without consultation naturally hit parental 
confidence. That this came at a time of dramatically increasing need with EHC plans clearly 
demonstrated a lack of understanding of the local area requirements.  
 
The majority of EHC assessments and EHC plans have breached the statutory 20 weeks, 
hitting parental confidence that assessments are made in a timely fashion and leaving 
children with needs unsupported for months or even years. Enforcement of the delivery of 
the provision specified in an EHC is poor as a result of undercapacity in the SEN team, 
leaving parents to feel they are the ones that have to fight for the provision (this is also the 
case for inclusion more generally) inclusion below. 
 
Over the last 12 months, there have been changing messages from the local authority and 
long delays in securing additional resource for the SEND team, with little information 
shared with parents and carers on the ground. 

Page 45



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 23  
 

 
Inclusion 
While some schools implement inclusion effectively, many schools in Bristol do not. In 
these schools parents are pushed to apply for EHC assessments rather than supported in 
the setting directly or via top up funding. This means that parents feel (and are told by the 
school) that they have to fight for provision. When a head does not support inclusion there 
is little support from the board of governors to deliver accountability and their statutory 
duties. 
Parents of mainstream children see the costs of inclusion as taking funding away from 
mainstream provision, creating an ‘us and them’ culture.”    

 
 

6.3 Assess and meet need: Analysis 
 
6.3.1. Through this self-evaluation a number of strengths have been identified: 

 There is strong and well established partnership working across Early Years.  This 
includes the Together@2 Review which has developed and implemented an integrated 
developmental progress check for two year olds.  We are working towards this being 
carried out for all two year olds.  

 Bristol Parent Carers provides a range of effective consultation and engagement 
mechanisms.  Developments to extend the voice and influence of children, young 
people, parents and carers include ongoing work to ensure representatives reflect a 
broad spectrum of need types, phases and diverse communities. 

 The Rainbow Project is an example of co-production with young people and families to 
design and provide a creative and effective solution to fill a gap in local provision for 
young people. 

 
6.3.2. Within the local system areas for development include: 

 EHC needs assessment and plans. The timeliness of issuing EHCPs is poor and has 
resulted in very low parental confidence in the local system.  The area is aware of the 
factors which have resulted in this situation including increased demand and significant 
workforce capacity issues across the partnership, and of the negative impact this has 
had on children and young people with SEND and their families.  The quality of EHC 
needs assessments and plans is also an area of concern.  Workforce development and 
the introduction of a quality assurance framework including moderation of EHCPs has 
taken place to ensure a full and accurate assessment of needs take place.  The backlog 
of annual reviews means that plans are not being updated as they should be.  

 Challenges to decisions.  The number of challenges being made to decisions of the local 
authority and to the content of EHCPs is a significant concern.  An officer has been 
recently appointed to manage mediations, appeals and to liaise with parents. 

 Inclusion and access to mainstream education.  The proportion of children and young 
people with EHCPs in mainstream schools is low in comparison to the SN and England 
average.  Bristol Parent Carers have also shared their concerns about inclusion in 
schools.  Skills in schools and access to therapeutic input in schools are an issue.  We 
acknowledge that analysis of this issue and a response to ensure that this situation is 

Page 46



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 24  
 

improved and that children with SEND have a place in mainstream schools in Bristol is 
required. 

 Preparing for adulthood.  The current Preparing for Adulthood (PFA) Team, based in 
adult social care starts working with young people when they are 17 and therefore is 
operating as a young adult team.  This does not meet our statutory duties or best 
practice by starting transition planning from 14 years.  Although the current PFA team 
works with the majority of 18 year olds, some young people aged 18+ are directed to 
other adult teams, who do not have the specialist knowledge that the PFA team hold 
for this age group. There is also a lack of oversight (in one area) of all the young people 
who will have a trajectory to adult care services and no consistent planning for young 
people from age 14 including in our schools. Proposals for a Pathway to Adulthood 
team have been approved to address these issues and deliver better outcomes.   

 Community Paediatrics. In 2018-19 only 45% of children had a first appointment within 
18 weeks of referral.  The service has not yet recovered from a difficult year in 2016-17 
when there were several retirements of long service staff, three staff were on long 
term sick and one consultant was killed in a road traffic accident.  Recruitment has 
been challenging despite skill mixing to bring in specialist nursing roles.  A centralised 
booking service has been established since April with additional clinic slots with the aim 
of reducing waiting times. 

 Local offer.  Significant work has taken place this year to improve the Local Offer and 
the website to ensure the Council, CCG and Bristol Parent Carers are fully involved in its 
development.  However, it requires further development and would benefit from a 
permanent rather than temporary officer to lead these developments. Further 
promotion and awareness raising needs to take place to ensure it becomes the go-to 
source of information for children, young people, families and carers.  

 
 

7. How effectively does Bristol improve outcomes for children and 
young people with SEND? 

 

7.1 Improving outcomes: What we do 
 
7.1.1. Details of how we work with children and young people with SEND and their families to 

meet their needs and in so doing improve outcomes are summarised in the previous 
section “how we assess and meet needs”.  In this section “what we do” we summarise the 
mechanisms to monitor outcomes. 

 
7.1.2. Individual outcomes are discussed and updated during EHCP annual reviews.  However, 

there is no mechanism to collate information about the achievement of outcomes for each 
child, across services or across the system.   

 
7.1.3. The SEND Data Dashboard has been developed to provide a rounded picture of children 

and young people with SEND.  The dashboard provides access to a live database which 
matches SEND data to social care and education data to provide a comprehensive overview 
of the needs, demand and outcomes. The information will be used to support local area 
commissioning and improvement work. For further details see Appendix 9 Good Practice 
example – SEND Data Dashboard. 

Page 47



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 25  
 

 
7.1.4. The HOPE works closely in partnership with a range of colleagues including social care and 

SEND Casework Team supporting and developing practise to ensure setting and placement 
stability and appropriateness for pupils.  The HOPE maintains an up to date SEND register 
for its pupils.  Advocates track and monitor the progress of young people to ensure that 
progress is being made. HOPE staff attend EHCP annual review meetings.  At Personal 
Education Plan (PEP) meetings progress and attendance are reviewed and challenged and 
the young person’s voice is heard and included within actions.  The Council receive a copy 
of all Looked after Children health care action plans and the HOPE Virtual School has access 
to these.   

 
7.1.5. The Alternative Learning Provision (ALP) Hub has successfully reduced secondary age 

permanent exclusions for young people with EHCPs and SEN Support Plans.  We do have a 
high rate of fixed term exclusions for children with SEND and there are a high proportion of 
fixed term school exclusions for children and young people with social, emotional and 
mental health needs. 
 

7.1.6. As part of the School Improvement Service Bristol Education Partners (BEP) provide a 
service to maintained and academy schools through visits and brokerage of support where 
required. Performance gaps between groups of pupils are routinely analysed and discussed 
by BEPs during school visits. This will include the relative performance of SEN pupils 
compared to their non-SEN peers. 
 

7.1.7. Partnerships with schools include forums for headteachers of primary (Primary Heads 
Association of Bristol City Council), secondary (Bristol Association of Secondary Heads and 
Principles) and special schools (Schools Partnership Meetings – Special Heads).  In addition 
the Excellence in Schools Group is a board made up of education leaders from across the 
city.  This board is developing a school led system, whereby there is collective responsibility 
for the performance of schools and a shared commitment to providing support and 
challenge to peers to raise education outcomes.   

 
 

7.2 Improving outcomes: Is it effective? 
 
7.2.1. At the Early Years Foundation Stage in 2018 outcomes improved and were good: 

 The percentage of children receiving SEN support achieving at least the expected 
standard in all Early Learning goals (ELGs) has improved significantly by seven 
percentage points to 29%.  This is now above the England average of 27% and the same 
as the SN average.   

 The percentage of children receiving SEN support achieving a good level of 
development has improved significantly to 30%, an improvement of five percentage 
points and is now also above the England average of 28% and the same as the SN 
average. 

 
7.2.2. Educational attainment in 2018 (unless stated) 

 
At Key Stage 1: 

Page 48



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 26  
 

 Outcomes for pupils receiving SEN support are improving and are in line with the SN 
and England averages for achieving the expected standard in reading and writing, but 
are below average for maths.   

 There is a difference in outcomes by gender with girls achieving higher than the 
England and SN averages and boys achieving lower than the average.  

 For those pupils with EHCPs outcomes are worse than SN and England averages for 
reading and writing and better, and improved, for maths.   

 
At Key Stage 2 outcomes are improving and comparable against England and SN averages 
for pupils receiving SEN support but less positive for pupils with EHCPs: 

 23% of pupils receiving SEN support achieved the expected standard in Reading Writing 
Maths (RWM), in line with the SN average and just below the England average of 24%. 
Performance in Bristol against this indicator is improving at the same rate as our 
comparators.   

 Children with EHCPs achieving expected standard in RWM is 5% and this has dropped 
from previous years and is below both the SN average (6.5%) and the England average 
(9%).  

 Progress measures are relatively poor for pupils with SEND but this is not the case for 
Bristol pupils without SEND.   

 
At Key Stage 4: 

 Outcomes and progress are comparable to SN and England averages for pupils 
receiving SEN support.   

 For pupils with EHCPs outcomes and progress has declined and is below the England 
average.  

 The percentage of children receiving SEN support achieving Attainment 8 is in line with 
the England average and is better than the SN average.  Progress 8 measure (-0.51) has 
improved and is below the England average (-0.43) and better than the SN average (-
0.59).   

 For young people with SEN support and EHCPs there are relatively high levels for EBacc 
entry and the Average Point Score (APS) is in line with the England average.   

 Children with EHCPs achieving Attainment 8 has dipped and is below the England 
average, but still higher than the SN average.  Progress 8 measure has declined and is 
below both the England and the SN average. 

 
7.2.3. Children in Care (2018) 

 KS2: Bristol's CiC with SEND made significant progress.  This progress exceeds that for 
CiC with SEND nationally. 

 KS4: The Progress 8 score for CiC with SEND is good and has improved. 
 
7.2.4. Post 16 

 In 2018, 93.6% of KS4 pupils in Bristol without an EHCP were in education, training or 
employment.  In comparison, 90.7% of KS4 pupils with an EHC plan were in education, 
training or employment.  Whereas the figure for students without an EHCP was lower 
than the Statistical Neighbours percentage (-0.3%) the figure for those students 
recorded with an EHCP was higher by one percentage point.  

 In 2019, 87.6% of 17 year olds without an EHCP were in education, training or 
employment (-1.4pp less than in comparison to Statistical Neighbours).  In comparison, 

Page 49



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 27  
 

86.4% of those with an EHCP were in education, training or employment (4.84% more 
than in comparison to Statistical Neighbours). 

 In 2018 the percentage of 19 year olds without SEN support qualified to Level 2, 
including English and Maths, was 72.10% (-1.65pp compared to Statistical Neighbours).  
The percentage of 19 year olds receiving SEN support qualified to Level 2 was  37.9% 
(+5.05pp compared to Statistical Neighbours) and for those with an EHCP 14.7% 
(+2.84pp compared to Statistical Neighbours). 

 In 2017, the percentage of 19 year olds without SEN support qualified to level 3 was 
54.5% (-4.94pp compared to Statistical Neighbours).  26.8% of 19 year olds receiving 
SEN Support were qualified to level 3 (+1.86pp compared to Statistical Neighbours). 
13.5% of 19 year olds with a Statement of SEN or EHC plan were qualified to level 3 (-
3.52pp compared to Statistical Neighbours). 

 
7.2.5. In 2018 the Bristol Works for Everyone Employment Programme for young people with 

SEND commissioned and directly delivered services including: 

 the delivery of 33 Supported Internships with 24 young people who have SEND 
entering employment; 

 the delivery of Job Search support for 40 young people with SEND; 

 in-work support for 34 young people with SEND. 
 
7.2.6. Attendance and exclusions 

For children with SEN support and EHCPs the level of attendance and exclusions is a 
concern.  This is demonstrated by high levels of persistent absence (less than 90% 
attendance), poor attendance and high rates of fixed period exclusions.  There are low 
rates of permanent exclusion for this group of children.    

 There has been increasing and high rates of persistent absence (missing 10% or more of 
their possible sessions) for children with EHCPs (34%), well above comparators and the 
England average of 25%.   

 There is poor attendance for children with SEND especially for children with EHCPs for 
whom there is an 11.5% absence rate (England average 8.5%).   

 There is also a high absence and persistent absence rate (40%) in special schools.  

 In 2017 there were very high rates of fixed period exclusions, 33% for children and 
young people with EHCPs (England average was 16%), and 26% for children and young 
people with SEN Support (England average was 15%).   

 In 2017 there were very low numbers of permanent exclusions for children with SEN 
support and no permanent exclusions for children with EHCPs.  

 
The ALP Hub undertakes strategic and operational work with schools on citywide 
exclusions, Alternative Provision, early intervention, social, emotional and mental health 
provision and systems.  The work of the Hub successfully reduced the number of secondary 
permanent exclusions for children with SEN support from 28 to three in 2016 and has 
maintained this level to date.  Permanent exclusions from special schools were reduced to 
zero in 2016 and this position has also been maintained to date.  

 

Hypothesis for the rise in persistent absence (PA): 

 It is likely that Bristol’s high fixed term exclusion rate contributes to high PA overall.  
The majority of FTEs are from secondary schools and specialist providers.  Bristol 
secondary schools continue with ‘Ready to Learn’ behaviour policies which generate 

Page 50



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 28  
 

high numbers of FTEs.  FTE is also very high in our Primary SEMH special schools with all 
three sectors/phases way above National/core cities/statistical neighbours. 

 It is likely that the use of part-time timetables is affecting persistent absence levels.  
The LA does not have a clear overview of the use of part time-timetables for high 
needs/resource intensive/SEND/disruptive pupils. Whilst these absences are recorded 
as authorised they may not be in the best interests of the pupils. It is possible that the 
high level of EHCP applications, significant delays with EHCP timescales and limited 
access to specialist settings/resources/services are contributing to part time timetables 
as a way of schools managing pupils.  This in turn will increase persistent absence rates. 

 There are also high levels of mental health/anxiety related need in Bristol relative to 
National, core cities, stat neighbours etc. This may explain why Bristol has higher levels 
of illness absence in comparison to other authorities. Bristol is the 5th highest spending 
LA in England on this area.   

 

 
7.3 Improving outcomes: Analysis 
 
7.3.1. Areas of strength include: 

 Outcomes at the Early Years Foundation Stage for children with SEN Support have 
improved both for achieving the expected standard in all Early Learning Goals and 
achieving a good level of development.  These outcomes are now above the England 
average and in line with SN average. 

 At KS1 and KS2 educational outcomes for children receiving SEN Support are improving 
and comparable against England and SN averages. 

 The work of the ALP Hub work across the system has resulted in the reduction of 
permanent exclusions for young people with SEND.  There is ongoing development 
work to ensure high quality AP providers and flexible commissioning arrangements 
with a view to making sure that children and young people attend at least (Ofsted) 
Good Alternative Provision. 

 
7.3.2. The following areas for development have been identified: 

 Monitoring outcomes in EHCPs.  The ability to monitor and track the progress of 
children and young people towards achieving their outcomes is crucial in order to 
enable and support them to achieve their aspirations and potential.  The development 
of recording systems is a priority area to demonstrate and evidence the impact both for 
the children and the workforce who are committed to achieving positive outcomes for 
children and young people with SEND.  Monitoring of outcomes needs to take place at 
an individual, service and strategic level.  This intelligence will provide evidence for 
joint planning, commissioning and improvement work.  

 Attendance and exclusions.  There is poor school attendance, high persistent absence 
and high levels of fixed term exclusions (FTEs).  Focused work to improve this situation 
is taking place including tracking guidance and training by Education Welfare, 
promoting positive attendance through the Hope Virtual School and Bristol Inclusion 
Panel and Fair Access Panels, but it is acknowledged that more needs to be done to 
have the impact required. The high level of FTEs is a complex issue across the local 
system.  The majority of FTEs are from secondary schools but are also very high in our 
SEMH special schools.  FTEs account for a lot of the persistent absence for children with 

Page 51



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 29  
 

EHCPs as well as the use of part-time timetables for these pupils. Contributory factors 
include absence of resources, school capacity and lack of high quality training to 
support these pupils.  There needs to be both challenge and support to schools.  This 
needs to include support for the development of behaviour management approaches 
that acknowledge issues such as adverse childhood experiences for all vulnerable pupils 
including those with SEND and those with EHCPs.  

 
7.3.3. Action to improve attendance 

The development of an attendance strategy has been slow due to lack of resource.  
However, some key actions have been taken to improve attendance but impact will not be 
evident at this time.  

 
Direct support for attendance in schools: 

 Appointment of an Attendance and Access Lead as a strategic and operational role 
leading the following aspects of attendance in the city: 
- analysis of results from the Strategy Consultation and results from the Young Carers 

survey  and a strategy is produced and subject to appropriate scrutiny  and 
governance before publication.   

- to improve information sharing and ensure relevant parties are kept up to date 
with the progress on improving school attendance in the City in line with strategic 
plans. 

- further develop the LA’s work in reducing the number of pupils classed as: 
o children missing from education (CME) 

o pupils missing education (PME) 

o pupils with 10 days+ unauthorised absence  

 A new Education Welfare Commission has been agreed in relation to supporting 
schools with attendance.  The commission has been reviewed to provide:  
- A universal offer to all schools that will develop the school workforce and link 

attendance and safeguarding through the 3 attendance network meetings each 
academic year.  These meetings will provide updates on attendance issues, provide 
guidance and support and develop the skills and expertise of attendance leads. 

- Needs-led attendance clinics, run three times per year, that will provide schools 
with one to one support from an Education Welfare Officer for specific cases of 
persistent absence. 

- An attendance toolkit providing schools and attendance leads with advice, guidance 
and model polices and processes to promote attendance. 
 

 Behaviour Insights Team. 
- Guidance will be shared with schools based on the research pilot developed by the 

Behaviour Insights Team who have been working with a group of schools on 
approaches that impact positively on attendance rates. 
 

 Partnership Working: ALP Hub and Safer Options Team 
- From September the Safer Options Team will have an alert about every FTE in 

Bristol.  They will cross reference these with intelligence (CCE, ASB arrests etc) and 
offer support / advice / intervention. 

 
7.3.4. Inclusive Practice – developments 
 

Page 52



 
Bristol Local Area SEND self-evaluation  June 2019   

 P a g e  | 30  
 

 A new commission provided by the Education Psychology service to: 
- Hold an enhanced annual consultation meeting with a particular focus on exclusions 

and attendance. 
- Support the LA in undertaking its statutory function to  identify CYP who may have  

SEND. 
- Support the LA in identifying schools/ colleges who are at risk of non- compliance 

with statutory duties and who are at risk of failing against the Ofsted framework on 
SEND pupil progress, outcomes or other.    

- Promote the graduated response to SEND in schools (assess, plan, do, review). 
 

 Bristol Schools’ Partnership development of ACE Aware & Trauma Informed Practice in 
Bristol Schools 

- Providing match funding (50%) of training costs for 1 school staff member per 
setting to attend and complete the Diploma in Trauma and Mental Health-Informed 
Schools Practitioner Status courses led by Trauma Informed Schools UK  and hosted 
at Briarwood Special School. First cohort to start May 2019 and second cohort to 
start June 2019 

- Diploma in Trauma and Mental Health-Informed Schools Practitioner Status - 
https://www.traumainformedschools.co.uk/diploma-in-trauma-and-mental-health-
informed-schools-practitioner-status  

- The training is a ten day programme over two terms and covers: 
o The neuroscience and psychology of child and adolescent mental health and ill-

health 

o What do trauma and mental health-informed schools and communities do? 

o Bodies, minds, behaviour and learning 

o The healing power of talking about feelings and making sense of painful life 

experiences 

o Direct work with children and teenagers 

o Work with other school staff / community workers 

- All participating schools in receipt of the match funding to agree to join a working 
group to establish and agree principals, processes and an action plan over 2019-20 
(initially) that will support development of collaboration between:  

a) The participating schools/settings and Bristol LA and MAT support 
services – Phase 1 

b) A wider network of Bristol schools/settings and Bristol LA and MAT 
support services – Phase 2 

c) A developing network of regional schools and Bristol/other LA and MAT 

support services – Phase 3 

 
 

Page 53

https://www.traumainformedschools.co.uk/diploma-in-trauma-and-mental-health-informed-schools-practitioner-status
https://www.traumainformedschools.co.uk/diploma-in-trauma-and-mental-health-informed-schools-practitioner-status


Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of Report Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board Plan on a 
Page and Performance Framework

Author (including organisation): Sally Hogg
Consultant in Public Health
Bristol City Council

Date of meeting: 17th July 2019
For: Decision

1. Purpose of this Paper

To present to the Health and Wellbeing Board, a Plan on a Page and Performance 
Framework which will act as the foundation for the a new Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2020 - 2025. 

2. Executive Summary 

The Health and Wellbeing Board has a statutory duty to produce a Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy. The current strategy  comes to an end in 2019  In March 2019 it 
was agreed by the Board to produce a Plan on a Page and Performance Framework 
to act as the foundation for a new Health and Wellbeing Strategy, which  maximises 
the opportunities of the two existing strategies the Bristol One City Plan and 
Healthier Together.

The health and wellbeing ambitions in the One City Plan, the ambitions for 
prevention and integration as described in Healthier Together along with statutory 
duties of the Board will provide the framework for the new Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy.

.A development session of the Health and Wellbeing Board in May 2019 enabled 
members to understand the statutory responsibilities of the Board and explore the 
work streams of the Plan on a Page; to ensure ambitions were evidence-based, 
challenging and deliverable, linking clearly to the One City Plan and the wider health 
and care integration agenda.

3. Recommendations 
 The Health and Wellbeing Board approve the Plan on a Page and adopt this 

as the framework for the new Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

Page 54

Agenda Item 8



 The Health and Wellbeing Board endorse the named Board member 
champions for the pillars of the Plan on a Page.

 The Health and Wellbeing Board approve the Health and Wellbeing Board 
Delivery plan against which to measure progress.

4. Evidence Base

The gap between the most and least deprived areas in Bristol is 9.5 years for 
men and 7.4 years for women. In 1996 the gap was 10 years, so although overall 
life expectancy has increased slow progress has been made in closing the gap. 

Of equal concern is the gap in Healthy Life Expectancy which range5 from 11 
years to 31 years for females and from 10 years to 24 years for males between 
least and most deprived areas.   This health gap describes years lived with 
disability, in discomfort and pain.   It describes impacts on employment, the ability 
to engage in daily life and the need for health and social care treatments and 
interventions.

These entrenched inequalities require concentrated action and an approach 
which forensically addresses both the social determinants of health such as 
housing, employment and poverty, alongside a focus on the prevention and early 
intervention opportunities within the health and care system.

At the development session in May 2019 the Board agreed to frame the new 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy around the opportunities to address a range of 
social and economic determinants as outlined both in the One City Plan and 
within the Healthier Together programme led by the Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan.

To support the Health and Wellbeing Board effectively discharge its assurance 
role on behalf of the population an action plan with measurable outputs and 
outcomes has been developed.

The Bristol One City Plan provides a unique opportunity to take a whole system 
approach to addressing health inequalities while the developing Healthier 
Together programme led by the Sustainability and Transformation Plan provides 
opportunities for prevention and early intervention through the Health and Care 
system.   

Activity and priorities will be informed by the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
and Population Health Management.

Page 55



Appendix 1 – DRAFT Plan on a Page

P
age 56



Appendix 2a – DRAFT Performance Framework

P
age 57



Appendix 2b – DRAFT Workstream example

Page 58



Page 59



Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of Report Update on Thrive Bristol 
Author (including organisation): - Victoria Bleazard, Bristol City 

Council
- Leonie Roberts, Bristol City Council 

Date of meeting: 17th July 2019
For: Strategic oversight

1. Purpose of this Paper

We wish to update the Health and Wellbeing Board on both the priorities for the 
Thrive Bristol programme for 2019-20, and on efforts to develop an STP-wide Mental 
Health Strategy.  

In relation to Thrive Bristol, alongside providing an update on the programme’s 
priorities for this year, we have two requests for the Health and Wellbeing Board:

 For the Health and Wellbeing Board to draw upon its considerable influence to 
encourage city partners to do all that they can to improve mental health and 
wellbeing across Bristol. 

Specifically – we ask for the Board to communicate directly with key 
organisations (including schools, employers, statutory and community 
partners) outlining why mental health is a city priority, and request their 
support in making improvements. This may, for example, include encouraging 
organisations to deliver mental health training, or through becoming a ‘Time to 
Change’ employer to join efforts to tackle mental health stigma and 
discrimination. Both of these are key ambitions within the One City Plan and 
Thrive Bristol. 

 In parallel to requesting the support of city partners, we ask that the 
organisations represented on the Health and Wellbeing Board work towards 
becoming exemplary organisations for supporting the mental health and 
wellbeing of their staff and beneficiaries. Again, we would wish each 
organisation to become a ‘Time to Change’ employer and through this 
develop and implement a comprehensive set of actions to strengthen their 
efforts to improve mental health and wellbeing.

The Thrive Bristol programme team is able to offer organisations advice and support 
in developing these plans, and will have some additional capacity to roll out mental 
health training over 2019 – 20.  

Page 60

Agenda Item 9

https://www.time-to-change.org.uk/get-involved/get-your-workplace-involved/employer-pledge
https://www.time-to-change.org.uk/get-involved/get-your-workplace-involved/employer-pledge


2. Executive Summary 

2a.) Thrive Bristol: 2019-20 priorities

Thrive Bristol is our city-wide, partnership programme to improve the mental health 
and wellbeing of everyone in Bristol, with a focus on those with the greatest needs. It 
covers all ages and considers mental health in its broadest sense, with initiatives to 
improve the whole population’s wellbeing, as well as interventions for people 
experiencing mental illness.

The programme is focusing on prevention and the role partners from across the city 
can play in promoting good mental health. At its core is a recognition that as little as 
10% of a population’s health and wellbeing can be linked to access to healthcare. As 
such, rather than beginning with treatment, the focus is on the role of schools, 
colleges and universities, employers, housing organisations, businesses, the police 
and others can play. Thrive also seeks to tackle stigma and discrimination, and 
addresses the importance of our relationships and surroundings and access to good 
food, money and wider resources in achieving good mental health for all.

Thrive Bristol is an example of the One City Approach that is being taken in Bristol – 
where a broad range of city partners will work collaboratively to tackle the shared 
challenge of poor mental health. Partners from across the city are leading this work, 
proactively offering their time, resource and commitment to create a more mentally 
healthy city. 

Over 2019 – 20, Thrive Bristol will be focusing on the following areas:

 Children and Young People
We will offer support to all schools in Bristol to help them to develop a ‘whole school 
approach’ to mental wellbeing – for the benefit of pupils and staff. 

 Student Mental Health
Bristol’s two universities – the University of Bristol and the University of the West of 
England - have made improving mental health a top priority. This has focused on 
both supporting efforts to improve mental wellbeing, and on ensuring that systems 
are in place to quickly respond when students become unwell. 

Within Thrive Bristol over 2019-20, we are aiming to: 
a.) build upon the collaboration between the University of Bristol and UWE on mental 
wellbeing, and share learning from their ‘whole university’ approaches; 
b.) support the development of a ‘community of practice’ between universities and 
FE colleges and Sixth Forms to share expertise and resource across the city; 
c.) strengthen support pathways between education and the health system;
d.) bring learning from the wider Thrive programme, such as ‘Thriving at Work’ and 
on mental health training, into our HE and FE education providers.

Alongside this, we wish to explore the role our universities can play in informing and 
evaluating the innovation strands of ‘Thrive Bristol’ (i.e. our plans to develop our own 
mental health literacy training for Bristol to aid efforts to improve understanding and 
skills at scale). 

Page 61



 Thriving at Work 
Over 2018-19, we supported 25 Bristol-based public, private and charitable 
organisations to join forces to create our ‘Thriving at Work’ group, with the aim of 
improving the mental wellbeing of workplaces across the city. This has been co-
chaired by leaders from Burges Salmon and Bristol Mind, and has considered the 
needs of the city, gathered examples of best practice and made a series of 
recommendations on how further improvements can be made (their findings are 
soon to be published). 

Over 2019-20 city partners are working with us to begin to implement the 
recommendations they have made, and test new approaches to try and improve 
mental health and wellbeing in our workplaces (and evaluate impact). As part of this, 
we will be supporting 10 new Bristol organisations to tackle mental health and 
discrimination through signing the Time to Change Employer Pledge. 

 Mental Health and Housing
Second Step, Bristol Independent Mental Health Network and Bristol City Council 
have supported a working group of health and housing partners to develop a report 
which identifies the relationship between poor housing and poor mental health, and 
outlines the improvements that need to be made. 

Over 2019 – 20, this group is focusing upon implementing the recommendations in 
the Mental Health and Housing working group by creating a series of clear policy 
asks to influence system change at a local, regional and national level. Within this is 
work to develop and implement a city-wide ‘Housing First’ programme to help 
homeless people with complex needs and mental health issues to access support 
services and enter safer and more sustainable accommodation; to strengthen early 
intervention work with children and young people (0 -25) and to improve access to 
appropriate information, signposting and knowledge exchange across mental health 
and housing sectors. We will also be focusing our mental health training offer to 
those working in Bristol’s housing sector. 

 Thriving communities 
In partnership with CASS (Bristol’s Community Access Support Service) – and our 
leading BAME agencies such as Nilaari and Bristol Somali Forum – we are 
developing a programme of work to improve mental health and wellbeing outcomes 
for our BAME population. We also plan to further support ‘Thrive Hartcliffe’ to 
develop its programme of work supporting wellbeing. 

Across all of these workstreams the following will be embedded:
- Targeted work to tackle stigma and discrimination (as part of our ‘Time to 

Change’ hub). 
- A roll out mental health training across key city groups. As part of this we 

are exploring how key sectors, such as our arts and culture institutions and 
public transport providers can provide training for their front line staff to 
ensure that experiencing mental distress in the city are more likely to receive 
the positive support they need. 

- Debt support. 

Page 62



To note, Thrive Bristol is being cited as an example of best practice in the 
Government’s forthcoming Green Paper on prevention. In addition, the programme 
lead was invited to present in Parliament on the programme in May 2019, to share 
this work with members of the National Advisory Committee on Suicide Prevention. 
This work aligns closely with our suicide prevention programme. 

3. Recommendations 

As noted above, we request that the Health and Wellbeing Board:

- Communicate directly (via bespoke letters) with key organisations, such as 
schools, employers, statutory and community partners, to outline why mental 
health is a city priority, and request their support in making improvements 
(e.g. supporting the roll out of mental health training or becoming a ‘Time to 
Change’ employer; or undertaking the Mental Health and Wellbeing Badge in 
schools). 

- We ask that the organisations represented on the Health and Wellbeing Board 
work towards becoming exemplary organisations for supporting the mental 
health and wellbeing of their staff and beneficiaries. 

The Thrive Bristol programme team is available to offer organisations advice and 
support to aid this improvement work. We believe that this approach will demonstrate 
the city’s commitment to radically improving the mental health and wellbeing of 
everyone in Bristol, and help us to take practical steps to realising this ambition. 

4. City Benefits

Both Thrive Bristol and the STP’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy seek to 
improve the mental health and wellbeing of everyone in Bristol, with a focus on those 
with the poorest outcomes. Given the high levels of poor mental health, and suicide, 
then this is an area that has been prioritised by city leaders through the One City 
Plan. 

5. Financial and Legal Implications

Not applicable. 

6. Appendices

None included. 

Page 63


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	Minutes
	05.2 Minutes 220519

	6 Approval of SEND Strategy
	06.2 BD11934 SEND Strategy v7b
	06.3 version 4.0 Bristol SEND self-evaluation FINAL draft

	8 Health and Wellbeing Board Plan on a Page
	9 Thrive Bristol

